

CHCRUS

This is the accepted manuscript made available via CHORUS. The article has been published as:

Higgs mechanism in higher-rank symmetric U(1) gauge theories

Daniel Bulmash and Maissam Barkeshli Phys. Rev. B **97**, 235112 — Published 8 June 2018 DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.97.235112

The Higgs Mechanism in Higher-Rank Symmetric U(1) Gauge Theories

Daniel Bulmash and Maissam Barkeshli

Condensed Matter Theory Center and Joint Quantum Institute,

Department of Physics, University of Maryland, College Park, Maryland 20472 USA

(Dated: May 22, 2018)

We use the Higgs mechanism to investigate connections between higher-rank symmetric U(1) gauge theories and gapped fracton phases. We define two classes of rank-2 symmetric U(1) gauge theories: the (m, n) scalar and vector charge theories, for integer m and n, which respect the symmetry of the square (cubic) lattice in two (three) spatial dimensions. We further provide local lattice rotor models whose low energy dynamics are described by these theories. We then describe in detail the Higgs phases obtained when the U(1) gauge symmetry is spontaneously broken to a discrete subgroup. A subset of the scalar charge theories indeed have X-cube fracton order as their Higgs phase, although we find that this can only occur if the continuum higher rank gauge theory breaks continuous spatial rotational symmetry. However, not all higher rank gauge theories have fractonic Higgs phases; other Higgs phases possess conventional topological order. Nevertheless, they yield interesting novel exactly solvable models of conventional topological order, somewhat reminiscent of the color code models in both two and three spatial dimensions. We also investigate phase transitions in these models and find a possible direct phase transition between four copies of \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge theory in three spatial dimensions and X-cube fracton order.

IX.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1
	A. Structure of paper and summary of main results	2
II.	Higher-Rank Symmetric $U(1)$ Lattice Gauge	
	Theories	3
	A. General Setup	3
	B. Hamiltonians	4
	C. Scalar Charge Theories	5
	D. Vector Charge Theories	7
III.	General Comments on Higgs Phases	9
	A. Scalar Charge Theories	9
	B. Vector Charge Theories	10
IV.	Scalar Charge Higgs in $d = 2$	10
	A. Higgsing Procedure	10
	B. $(2r+1, 2s+1)$ Scalar Charge Theory	12
	C. $(1,0)$ Scalar Charge Theory	14
V.	Vector Charge Higgs in $d = 2$	14
	A. Changes to the Higgsing Procedure	14
	B. $(2r, 2s + 1)$ Vector Charge	14
	C. $(2r+1, 2s+1)$ Vector Charge	14
VI.	(2r, 2s + 1) Scalar Charge Higgs in $d = 3$ and	
	Fracton Order	15
	A. $(0,1)$ Scalar Charge	16
	B. $(2r+2, 2s+1)$ Scalar Charge	16
VII.	(2r+1, 2s+1) Scalar Charge Higgs in $d=3$	17
	A. Higgs Phase	17
	B. Large h Limit	18
	C. Large h. Limit - X-Cube Phase	19
	C. Darbe wy Dinne II Cube Lindee	10

VIII.	(2r+1, 2s+1)) Vector C	harge Hig	gs in c	l = 3 - 19
-------	--------------	------------	-----------	---------	------------

A. Higgs Phase B. Large-field limits	$\frac{20}{20}$
(4r+2, 2s+1) Vector Charge Higgs in $d=3$	22

X. Discussion 23

Acknowledgments 24

A.	Review of the Standard Higgs Mechanism	24
В.	Theories With Trivial Higgs Phases	25
	1. Classical Ground States	25
	2. Mappings to Ising Models	25
	3. Theories With Non-Universal Trivial Higgs Phases	26
	References	28

I. INTRODUCTION

The recent discovery of "fracton" phases of matter¹⁻⁶ has led to considerable recent research provided a new class of three-dimensional gapped phases of matter beyond conventional topological order, and which apparently cannot be described using standard gauge field theories. In addition to subextensive ground state degeneracy on topologically nontrivial manifolds, fracton phases are defined by possessing excitations whose motion is restricted to subdimensional manifolds. These theories have prompted a great deal of recent excitement⁷⁻¹³.

Recently, certain gapless versions of fracton phases have also been found in terms of higher-rank symmetric U(1) gauge theory^{14–19}. These theories possess gapless "photon" modes, together with "matter" whose motion is confined to subdimensional manifolds.¹⁷ These higherrank symmetric gauge theories have received little attention in the field theory literature, as they inherently break Lorentz symmetry, although some of them are closely related to studies of Lifshitz gravity.^{14,15,20}

While fracton phases share some features of conventional topological order, they appear to require geometric data in addition to topological data²¹⁻²⁴. Constructions involving gauging subsystem symmetries^{25,26}, layering two-dimensional conventional topological order^{27–29}, coupled chains³⁰, or partons³¹ are known to produce fracton phases, but it is unclear whether these relationships are essential or incidental. In particular, the general relationships between gapped fracton phases, gapless higherrank gauge theories, and conventional topological order are not well-understood. In order to understand these relationships, one natural approach is to consider the Higgs mechanism in the higher rank U(1) theories, since the Higgs mechanism is known to relate gapless phases of conventional gauge theories to gapped, topologically ordered ones.

An intriguing feature of gapped fracton phases is that it is also unclear whether, and to what extent, they can be described using continuum field theories. A natural guess is that a Higgs phase of a continuum higher rank gauge theory might provide such a continuum field theoretic description. Recently, Ref. 32 found a field theoretic representation of the X-Cube model²⁵, which is a an example of a gapped fracton model. This further raises the question of whether such a field theory can be related to a Higgs phase of a gapless higher rank gauge theory.

In this paper, we present a general analysis of a wide class of higher-rank symmetric U(1) lattice gauge theories and their Higgs phases. This helps us elucidate the relation between fracton orders, conventional topological order, and gapless higher-rank symmetric gauge theories. Our results are briefly summarized below.

A. Structure of paper and summary of main results

We begin in Sec. II by defining a set of rank-2 symmetric lattice gauge theories which have the symmetry of the square (cubic) lattice in d = 2 (d = 3). These theories are defined by a set of rotor variables $A_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) \sim A_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) + 2\pi$ on the sites and faces of a square (cubic) lattice. The conjugate momenta are the "electric fields" $E_{ij}(\mathbf{r})$. There are two classes of theories, the (m, n) scalar and (m, n) vector charge theories, where m and n are relatively prime integers. These theories are defined by their Gauss' Law constraints, which induce a set of gauge transformations, summarized in Table I. The scalar and vector charge theories studied in Refs. 14–19, whose continuum limit is invariant under continuous spatial rotations, correspond in our notation to the (1, 1) scalar charge and (2, 1) vector charge theories.

Section II also provides details of these theories and presents local lattice rotor models whose low-energy subspace is the gauge theory coupled to charge-p matter fields. With the exception of the (0, 1) scalar charge the-

ory in d = 2, the (1,0) and (0,1) vector charge theories in d = 2 and d = 3, these models yield a well-defined class of field theories.

An important question is the extent to which these gapless theories are stable to arbitrary perturbations. The models that we consider correspond to compact U(1)higher-rank gauge theories, and thus an understanding of stability requires ruling out non-perturbative instanton processes. We expect that the d = 2 theories that we consider are unstable to proliferation of instantons, and are thus not stable phases. As such, they may be thought of as multi-critical points, and it is an interesting question to understand how many relevant operators exist at their respective fixed points. In d = 3, most of the theories do appear to correspond to stable phases. In particular, the (m, n) vector charge models are self-dual for m, n > 0, which, using extensions of arguments for the (2,1) theory¹⁴⁻¹⁶, implies stability of the theory. Similarly, the (1,0) scalar charge theory also has a self-duality and is stable. On the other hand, the other (m, n) scalar charge theories do not have a clear self-duality. Nevertheless, consideration of the magnetic sector of these theories suggests that they are stable for m, n > 0, although we leave a detailed analysis for future work. The stability of the (0,1) scalar charge theory in d=3 also requires further study, as it does possess non-trivial instanton process whose relevance must be carefully analyzed.

In Section III we explain the physical intuition for how the Higgs mechanism affects subdimensional charges in the U(1) theories. Specifically, we demonstrate how condensation of charge p excitations in the (1, 1) scalar and (2, 1) vector charge theories necessarily renders the charged excitations fully mobile in all directions. Thus the Higgs phases of such theories possess conventional topological order, described by a conventional discrete gauge theory.

We then explicitly study the Higgs transitions and phase diagrams for general (m, n) scalar and vector charge theories in Secs. IV-IX. Our main results for the topological order of the Higgs phases are summarized in Table II. In particular, we find that in d = 3, the (2r, 2s + 1) scalar charge theories, for $r, s \ge 0$, yield the X-cube fracton phase²⁵ upon condensation of charge 2 particles. This is a remarkable result, as we see that the (2r, 2s+1) scalar charge theories form a class of gapless higher rank gauge theories that appear to be stable phases of matter (at least for r > 0), and thus can be thought of as gapless "parent" phases of the X-cube fracton phases. As seen in Table II, the Higgs phases of many of the theories that we study simply reduce to conventional topological order; nevertheless, in several cases they correspond to exactly solvable models of topological order that are quite different from the usual well-known toric code models, and thus they may be of independent interest. In particular, these models are reminiscent of the color codes. 33

We further find that the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar and vector Higgsed charge models, for integer r and s, in

Theory	Gauss' Law	Gauge transformation
(m,n) scalar	$m\sum_{i}\Delta_{i}^{2}E_{ii} + n\sum_{i\neq j}\Delta_{i}\Delta_{j}E_{ij} = \rho$	$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} - \begin{cases} m\Delta_i^2 \alpha & i=j\\ n\Delta_i \Delta_j \alpha & i\neq j \end{cases}$
(m,n) vector	$m\Delta_j E_{jj} + 2n \sum_{i \neq j} \Delta_i E_{ij} = \rho_j$	$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} - \begin{cases} m\Delta_i \alpha_i & i = j \\ n(\Delta_i \alpha_j + \Delta_j \alpha_i) & i \neq j \end{cases}$

TABLE I. Gauss' Laws and gauge transformations for U(1) rank-2 symmetric gauge theories that obey the symmetry of the square (cubic) lattice. Δ_i denotes a lattice derivative in the *i* direction. The normalization has been chosen so that in the compact theories, (m, n) relatively prime integers leads to integer charge lattices. The (1, 1) scalar charge and (2, 1) vector charge theories have continuous rotational invariance.

d = 3 have particularly interesting phase diagrams; we study them in Sections VII and VIII respectively. The (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory has \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order in its Higgs phase. Upon adding a certain strong Zeeman field, the effective Hamiltonian is the X-cube model; this raises the interesting possibility of a direct confinement-like transition between conventional topological order and fracton order in three spatial dimensions. The Higgs phase of the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory has \mathbb{Z}_2^7 topological order and can be driven to \mathbb{Z}_2 topological order in a suitable strong Zeeman field limit.

II. HIGHER-RANK SYMMETRIC U(1) LATTICE GAUGE THEORIES

In this section, we carefully define the set of rank-2 symmetric U(1) lattice gauge theories. The set of theories with continuous rotational symmetry is known¹⁶, but for later purposes we will also write down the taxonomy of rank-2 theories respecting the symmetries of the square (cubic) lattice in d = 2 (d = 3).

A. General Setup

The starting point of these gauge theories is a set of gauge field variables A_{ij} , where we define A to be symmetric so that A_{xy} and A_{yx} are just relabelings of the same degree of freedom. The construction may be defined on a lattice, in which case the diagonal components A_{ii} live on the sites of the lattice and the off-diagonal components A_{ij} for $i \neq j$ live on the faces of the square (cubic) lattice in d = 2 (d = 3), as shown in Fig. 1. Alternatively, the theory may be constructed in the continuum. We will generally use lattice notation, but we will specify when the lattice is important.

We then define a symmetric tensor E_{ij} of momenta such that

$$[A_{ij}(\mathbf{r}), E_{kl}(\mathbf{r}')] = \frac{i}{2} \delta_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}'} \left(\delta_{ik} \delta_{jl} + \delta_{il} \delta_{jk} \right)$$
(1)

 A_{ij} and E_{ij} to both transform as tensors under spatial rotations, that is, (for example) $E_{ij} \rightarrow \sum_{k,l} R_{ik} R_{jl} E_{kl}$



FIG. 1. Arrangement of the gauge field degrees of freedom for a U(1) symmetric lattice gauge theory in (a) d = 2 and (b) d = 3. Each dot is a rotor variable, and the circles indicate that d spins live on each site.

where R is a rotation matrix. The form of Eq. (1) guarantees rotational invariance of the commutation relations. The factor of 1/2 ensures that A_{ii} is canonically conjugate to E_{ii} : $[A_{ii}, E_{ii}] = i$. However, for $i \neq j$, we have $[A_{ij}, E_{ij}] = i/2$. This non-standard normalization for canonical conjugates must be tracked carefully in what follows.

Next, we demand the existence of local Gauss' Law constraints, which take the form:

$$G_a(E;\mathbf{r}) = \rho_a(\mathbf{r}),\tag{2}$$

where G_a is some local linear differential operator acting on the E_{ij} tensor and ρ_a is the corresponding matter

U(1) Charge Type	(m,n)	Higgs Phase
d = 2 scalar		
	(2r+1, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order
	(2r, 2s+1)	Trivial
	(2r+1, 2s+2)	Trivial
	(1, 0)	\mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order
d = 2 vector		
	(2r+1, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order
	(2r+2, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order
	(2r+1, 2s)	Trivial
	(0, 1)	Trivial
d = 3 scalar		
	(2r+1, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order
	(2r, 2s+1)	X-Cube fracton order
	(2r+1, 2s+2)	Trivial
	(1, 0)	\mathbb{Z}_2^8 topological order
d = 3 vector		
	(2r+1, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2^7 topological order
	(4r+2, 2s+1)	\mathbb{Z}_2 topological order
	(4r, 2s+1)	Trivial
	(2r+1, 2s)	Trivial

TABLE II. List of \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phases. Here $r, s \ge 0$ are nonnegative integers; the nomenclature of the U(1) theories is explained in Sec. II. The labeling \mathbb{Z}_2^n in d spatial dimensions means that the topological order is n copies of the d-dimensional \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code. By trivial, we mean that the phase is topologically trivial; interesting patterns of global symmetry breaking may be present, as we discuss.

field. The subscript a allows for multiple Gauss' Laws corresponding to multiple species of charges.

Finally, we compute the gauge transformation rule arising from the Gauss' Law constraint. This is done most clearly in the zero-charge sector, where we demand that a state $|A_{ij}\rangle$ which is an eigenstate of all the A_{ij} operators obey

$$e^{i\alpha_a(\mathbf{r})G_a(E;\mathbf{r})}|A_{ij}\rangle = |A_{ij}\rangle \tag{3}$$

for each a, each \mathbf{r} , and arbitrary α_a . But $e^{i\alpha_a(\mathbf{r})E_{ij}(\mathbf{r})}$ shifts the eigenvalue of $A_{ij}(\mathbf{r})$ according to the commutation relations Eq. (1), which means that the two configurations of A_{ij} related by $e^{i\alpha G_a}$ must represent the same state, i.e. these states are gauge-equivalent.

B. Hamiltonians

The general structure of the Hilbert space and the Hamiltonians we consider is as follows. The Hilbert space of the theory consists of two pieces. First, we have the rotor variables $A_{ij} \sim A_{ij} + 2\pi$ and their conjugates, as discussed in Sec. II A. Second, we have a set of compact rotor variables $\theta_a \sim \theta_a + 2\pi$ and their canonical conjugates L_a with commutation relations

$$[\theta_a(\mathbf{r}), L_b(\mathbf{r}')] = i\delta_{\mathbf{r},\mathbf{r}'}\delta_{ab} \tag{4}$$

The values of a and the locations of the θ variables will depend on the theory, but in general there is one value of a per Gauss' Law constraint. We defer further discussion until talking about the individual theories.

The Hamiltonian for every theory will break down into the same basic structure, identical to the structure of the usual lattice U(1) gauge theory, but the form of each term will depend on the theory.

$$H = H_{Maxwell} + H_{Higgs} + H_{Gauss} \tag{5}$$

The Maxwell term provides dynamics for the gauge field A_{ij} and electric field E_{ij} degrees of freedom. Its form is

$$H_{Maxwell} = \sum_{\mathbf{r},i} \left(\tilde{h}_s E_{ii}^2 - \frac{1}{g_s^2} \cos(B_{ii}) \right) + \sum_{\mathbf{r},i < j} \left(\tilde{h}_f E_{ij}^2 - \frac{1}{g_f^2} \cos(B_{ij}) \right)$$
(6)

where B_{ij} is the simplest (i.e. contains the fewest derivatives) combination of the A_{ij} which is gauge invariant, and \tilde{h}_s , \tilde{h}_f , g_s , and g_f are coupling constants. The form and symmetry of B_{ij} will depend on the gauge transformation rules of the theory.

The Higgs term contains the dynamics of the matter field(s) θ and L. Most notably, it couples the charge-p

matter field θ to the gauge field A_{ij} . The form of this coupling depends on the theory but is dictated by gauge invariance. This coupling term will be taken strong in order to enter a Higgs phase.

Finally, the Gauss' Law term dynamically identifies pL with the right-hand side of Gauss' Law. This term has the schematic form

$$H_{Gauss} = \tilde{U} \sum_{a,\mathbf{r}} \left(G(E) - pL_a \right)^2 \tag{7}$$

There is one term in the sum for each L variable, that is, one per site in the scalar charge theories and one per link in the vector charge theories. At large \tilde{U} , the low-energy subspace is the gauge theory restricted to charge-p particles (since, by hand, we only put charge-p matter into the theory). Implementing Gauss' law as an energetic constraint rather than an exact constraint allows the gauge theory to emerge at low energies from a local lattice rotor model whose Hilbert space has a local tensor product structure.

What remains for each theory is to use Gauss' Law to specify the structure of the matter field and to use gauge invariance to specify the form of the magnetic field B_{ij} and the form of H_{Higgs} .

C. Scalar Charge Theories

We now define the full set of theories that we consider and the relations between them. These are summarized in Table I; there are scalar and vector charge theories. A trace constraint may also be added to these theories¹⁶; we leave investigation of such theories to future work.

We begin with the scalar charge theories.

1. Set of Theories

The scalar charge theory with continuous rotation invariance has Gauss' Law

$$\sum_{ij} \Delta_i \Delta_j E_{ij} = \rho \tag{8}$$

which generates the gauge transformation

$$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} + \Delta_i \Delta_j \alpha.$$
 (9)

Here Δ_i is a lattice derivative in the *i* direction.

If we demand only the symmetries of a square (cubic) lattice, the diagonal components of E_{ij} are not symmetry-related to the off-diagonal components, and we may modify Gauss' Law to the following

$$m\sum_{i}\Delta_{i}^{2}E_{ii} + n\sum_{i\neq j}\Delta_{i}\Delta_{j}E_{ij} = \rho$$
(10)

which we call the (m, n) scalar charge theory. Keeping careful track of the factors of 2 in the commutators, this



FIG. 2. Charge configurations created in the (m, n) scalar charge theory by (a) $e^{iA_{xx}}$, the raising operator for E_{xx} , acting on the center site (b) $e^{iA_{xy}}$, the raising operator for E_{xy} , acting on the black plaquette.

leads to the gauge transformation rule

$$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} + \begin{cases} m\Delta_i^2 \alpha & i=j\\ n\Delta_i \Delta_j \alpha & i\neq j \end{cases}$$
(11)

In all these theories, there is a single matter field which, on the lattice, lives on the sites.

Clearly the scalar charge theory with continuous rotational invariance, Eq. (8), is the (1,1) scalar charge theory in our nomenclature. How many distinct theories are there? If the gauge group is noncompact, that is, if we do not enforce $A_{ij} \sim A_{ij} + 2\pi$, then E_{ij} is not quantized and may be rescaled freely. Therefore all nonzero m and n generate the same theory. However, if the gauge group is compact, E_{ij} is quantized and may only be rescaled by a sign while maintaining the quantization conditions. Therefore, in general different values of m and n are not equivalent. We generally require m and n to be relatively prime integers (common factors may be removed by rescaling the matter field ρ)³⁴.

In each theory, charges are created by the local operators $e^{\pm iA_{ij}}$, which are raising and lowering operators for the E_{ij} . The charge configurations created by these local operators in the (m, n) theories are determined by inspection of Gauss' Law, and are shown in Fig. 2.

We now examine different theories individually.

2. (1,0) Scalar Charge Theory

The (1, 0) theory is special in that the off-diagonal components of A_{ij} are gauge-invariant and decouple from the diagonal components. Since the off-diagonal components are decoupled and have no gauge transformation associated with them, we discard them as a trivial sector of the theory.

The magnetic field is

$$B_i = \sum_{jk} \epsilon_{ijk} \Delta_j^2 A_{kk} \tag{12}$$

for i = z in d = 2 and i = x, y, z in d = 3. Here ϵ is the Levi-Civita symbol. The Higgs term of the Hamiltonian is

$$H_{Higgs} = \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \frac{L(\mathbf{r})^2}{2M} - V \sum_{i} \cos(\Delta_i^2 \theta + pA_{ii}) \qquad (13)$$

In d = 2 local operators create point-like magnetic excitations, so we expect the theory to be unstable to instanton proliferation. In d = 3, this theory is self-dual at V = 0; if we write

$$E_{ii} = \sum_{jk} \epsilon_{ijk} \Delta_j^2 h_{kk} \tag{14}$$

where h is a diagonal rank-2 tensor, then $[h_{jj}, B_k] = i\delta_{jk}$ reproduces the correct commutation relations between A_{jj} and E_{kk} . The self-duality of the Hamiltonian can be checked explicitly. The duality and gauge invariance is enough to show, following similar arguments to Refs. 15 and 16, that the (1,0) theory in d = 3 is stable to confinement. Its photon mode has the soft dispersion $\omega \sim k^2$.

Electric charges in this theory are immobile, while dipoles can move only in one dimension, along the direction of their dipole moment. To show this, we adapt the arguments of Ref. 17. In this theory, dipole moments are conserved:

$$\int x_i \rho(\mathbf{r}) d^d \mathbf{r} = \int x_i \sum_j \Delta_j^2 E_{jj} d^d \mathbf{r} = \int \Delta_i E_{ii} d^d \mathbf{r} = 0$$
(15)

where we integrated by parts and used the fact that the E_{ii} are single-valued. Moving an isolated charge would violate this conservation law and is therefore not allowed.

Another way to see this is to examine the local operators which create charge; these operators are $e^{iA_{ii}}$. Using the form of Gauss' Law, it is straightforward to see that $e^{iA_{xx}}$, for example, creates the charge configuration in Fig. 2(a) (with m = 1). Alternatively, this operator is a hopping operator which moves an x-directed dipole by one unit in the x direction; dipoles may move in the direction of their dipole moment. However, because $e^{iA_{xy}}$ is not present in this theory, any operator that moves an x-directed dipole in the y direction creates additional charges. Hence, the dipoles are mobile only along their dipole moment. There is no local hopping operator for a single charge.

3. (0,1) Scalar Charge Theory

In the (0, 1) theory the diagonal components of A_{ij} are gauge-invariant and decouple from the off-diagonal components. The diagonal components may then be discarded as a trivial sector of the theory.

In d = 2, A_{xy} is the only nontrivial degree of freedom remaining. It is not possible to create a gauge-invariant operator solely out of A_{xy} ; accordingly, no magnetic field can be defined in d = 2. We therefore expect that the (0, 1) theory in d = 2 is highly degenerate; its Maxwell theory has no B^2 term, which corresponds to a speed of light equal to zero. This theory is therefore highly unstable to perturbations that take the system out of the gauge theory subspace, and thus not well-defined.

In d = 3, we can construct a magnetic field

$$B_{ii} = \sum_{ab} \epsilon_{iab} \Delta_a A_{bi} \tag{16}$$

The labeling is for later comparison with other theories. Treating B as a (diagonal) rank-2 tensor, we see that it is traceless. The Higgs term of the Hamiltonian is

$$H_{Higgs} = \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \frac{L(\mathbf{r})^2}{2M} - V \sum_{i < j} \cos(\Delta_i \Delta_j \theta + pA_{ij}) \quad (17)$$

Unlike the (1,0) theory, the $d = 3 \ (0,1)$ theory is not self-dual. Local operators create point-like magnetic excitations, so we expect that instanton processes induce confinement. Ref. 35 showed that the theory is indeed unstable to confinement.

The photon mode in this (0, 1) theory has dispersion $\omega \sim k$. Following the same arguments as in Sec. II C 2, one can check that isolated electric charges are immobile, and that dipoles can move in any direction perpendicular to their dipole moment. Isolated charges are immobile because, as before, there is a dipole conservation law $\int x_i \rho(\mathbf{r}) d^3 \mathbf{r} = 0$. The only local operators which create charge, $e^{iA_{ij}}$ for $i \neq j$, create charges in the set of four shown in Fig. 2(b). This operator is exactly a transverse hopping operator for a dipole, but no longitudinal hopping operator exists because the diagonal components of the electric field do not exist.

This motion is reminiscent of the restricted mobility of excitations in the X-cube model; we will show later that Higgsing the d = 3 (0, 1) model indeed produces the X-cube model.

4. (m,n) Scalar Charge Theory

We now consider the rest of the (m, n) theories, i.e. m, n relatively prime positive integers.

$$H_{Higgs} = \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \frac{L(\mathbf{r})^2}{2M} - V_1 \sum_{\mathbf{r},i(18)$$

For the later part of the paper, we will want to take a single strong-coupling limit which Higgses the entire gauge field. We therefore want V_1 and V_2 to scale to strong coupling at the same rate; for these purposes, it suffices to take them equal.

In d = 2, the magnetic field has two components

$$B_{zx} = m\Delta_x A_{xy} - n\Delta_y A_{xx} \tag{19}$$

$$B_{zy} = m\Delta_y A_{xy} - n\Delta_x A_{yy} \tag{20}$$

The notation is for consistency with d = 3, where the magnetic field is a traceless, non-symmetric tensor

$$B_{ij} = \begin{cases} \sum_{ab} \epsilon_{iab} \Delta_a A_{bi} & i = j \\ \sum_{a \neq i,j} \left(m \Delta_j A_{aj} - n \Delta_a A_{jj} \right) & i \neq j \end{cases}$$
(21)

In neither d = 2 nor d = 3 does this model have a clear self-duality. Local operators create point-like magnetic excitations in d = 2 but not in d = 3, so we expect that the theory is unstable to confinement in d = 2 but is stable in d = 3, consistent with expectations¹⁷ for the (1, 1) model.

The photon mode has dispersion $\omega \sim k$. These theories all have the dipole conservation law $\int x_i \rho(\mathbf{r}) d^d \mathbf{r} = 0$, so electric charges are immobile. Dipoles can propagate in any direction, but on the lattice they have the curious property that the distance by which they can move depends on m and n. For example, in the (1, 1) theory, $e^{iA_{ii}}$ is a longitudinal hopping operator for a unit dipole and $e^{iA_{ij}}$ for $i \neq j$ is a transverse hopping operator, as can be deduced from Fig. 2. In the (1, 2) theory, $e^{iA_{ij}}$ for $i \neq j$ is a transverse hopping operator for dipoles with moment 2 (see Fig. 2(b)); the simplest transverse hopping operator for a unit dipole is shown in Fig. 3 and moves the unit dipole by *two* lattice units.

As a further note, it can be checked explicitly that the (m, n) theory for $m, n \neq 0$ can be produced by condensing a bound state of charge n in the (1, 0) theory and charge -m in the (0, 1) theory. This means that in some sense one may think of the (1, 0) and (0, 1) theories as the fundamental scalar charge theories.

D. Vector Charge Theories

We next examine the possible vector charge theories, proceeding similarly to the scalar charge theories. Here, the matter field consists of rotor variables $\theta_a(\mathbf{r})$ that are defined on links that are oriented in the *a* direction, and which transform as a vector under rotations. Consequently, there are *d* different types of charges, which are subject to *d* Gauss' Laws.



FIG. 3. Transverse hopping operator for a unit dipole in the (1,2) scalar charge theory. The $e^{iA_{ij}}$ operators act on the black rotors and create the charge configuration shown. Because $e^{iA_{xy}}$ only creates charge-2 objects in the (1,2) theory, it cannot cause a unit dipole to hop, unlike the (1,1) theory.

1. Set of Theories

The vector charge theory with continuous rotational invariance has the following d Gauss' Laws:

$$2\sum_{i} \Delta_i E_{ij} = \rho_j. \tag{22}$$

The factor of 2 is present to cause ρ_j to take on integer values; this is needed because the off-diagonal components of E_{ij} may be half-integers. This generates the dgauge transformations

$$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} + \Delta_i \alpha_j + \Delta_j \alpha_i \tag{23}$$

where the α_i are d independent gauge transformations.

As before, demanding only the symmetries of a square (cubic) lattice allows modifications

$$m\Delta_i E_{ii} + 2n \sum_{i \neq j} \Delta_i E_{ij} = \rho_j \tag{24}$$

which we call the (m, n) vector charge theory. The factor of 2 is again present to make ρ_j integer-valued when mand n are integers. This leads to the gauge transformation rule

$$A_{ij} \to A_{ij} + \begin{cases} m\Delta_i \alpha_i & i = j \\ n \left(\Delta_i \alpha_j + \Delta_j \alpha_i \right) & i \neq j \end{cases}$$
(25)

In these theories, there are d matter fields θ_i which, on the lattice, live on the *i*-directed links.



FIG. 4. Charge configurations created in the (m,n) vector charge theory by (a) $e^{iA_{xx}}$, the raising operator for E_{xx} , acting on the black site (b) $e^{iA_{xy}}$, the raising operator for E_{xy} , acting on the black plaquette.

Clearly the rotationally invariant scalar charge theory Eq. (22) is the (2, 1) vector charge theory in our nomenclature. We proceed as before to classify the set of possible theories. Again, if the gauge field is noncompact, all nonzero m and n generate the same theory because E_{ij} can be rescaled. For the same reasons as before, with a compact gauge group, relatively prime integers m and ngenerate distinct theories.

The charge configurations created by local operators in the (m, n) theories are again determined by inspection of Gauss' Law, and are shown in Fig. 4.

We now examine different theories individually.

2. (1,0) and (0,1) Vector Charge Theories

As in the scalar charge case, the (1,0) vector charge theory has decoupled, gauge-invariant off-diagonal components of A_{ij} which can be discarded as trivial. Likewise, the diagonal components of A_{ij} may be discarded in the (0,1) theory. However, it can be checked that in neither of these theories can a magnetic field be defined; no gauge-invariant linear combination of the remaining A_{ij} exist. These theories effectively have zero "speed of light" and are thus highly degenerate and unstable to perturbations that take the theory out of the gauge invariant subspace. Although a Higgs mechanism can still be defined, it will turn out to produce trivial Higgs phases in these theories.

3. (m, n) Vector Charge Theory

Although the (1,0) and (0,1) vector charge theories are unstable, the theories we now consider, i.e. (m,n)theories with m, n relatively prime positive integers, are much better behaved.

The Higgs term in the Hamiltonian is of the form

$$H_{Higgs} = \sum_{\mathbf{r},i} \frac{L_i(\mathbf{r})^2}{2M} - V_1 \sum_{\mathbf{r},i} \cos(m\Delta_i \theta_i + pA_{ii}) - V_2 \sum_{\mathbf{r},i < j} \cos(n(\Delta_i \theta_j + \Delta_j \theta_i) + pA_{ij}) \quad (26)$$

For the same reasons as in the scalar charge theories, we will choose to take $V_1 = V_2$ for simplicity.

In d = 2, the magnetic field has one component

$$B_{zz} = n \sum_{a \neq b} \Delta_a^2 A_{bb} - m \Delta_x \Delta_y A_{xy} \tag{27}$$

The notation is for consistency with d = 3, where the magnetic field is a symmetric tensor

$$B_{ij} = \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{a \neq b \neq i} \left(2n\Delta_a^2 A_{bb} - m\Delta_a \Delta_b A_{ab} \right) & i = j \\ \frac{2}{3 - (-1)^m} \sum_{k \neq i,j} \left[m \left(\Delta_i \Delta_k A_{jk} + \Delta_j \Delta_k A_{ik} - \Delta_k^2 A_{ij} \right) - 2n\Delta_i \Delta_j A_{kk} \right] & i \neq j \end{cases}$$
(28)

The peculiar factor in front of the off-diagonal terms, which is 1 when m is odd and 1/2 when m is even, merits explanation. In the expression for B_{ij} for $i \neq j$, A_{kk} appears with an even coefficient 2n. Therefore, under $A_{kk}(\mathbf{r}) \rightarrow A_{kk}(\mathbf{r}) + 2\pi$ at a specific single site \mathbf{r} , we have $B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) \rightarrow B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) + 4n\pi$. Under $A_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) \sim A_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) + 2\pi$ at a single specific site \mathbf{r} , we have $B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) \rightarrow B_{ij}(\mathbf{r}) + 2m\pi$. If m is odd, the fact that m and 2n are relatively prime implies that $B_{ij} \sim B_{ij} + 2\pi$, and $\cos(B_{ij})$ is the minimal term in the Hamiltonian which respects this identification. If m is even, then the factor of 1/2 maintains $B_{ij} \sim B_{ij} + 2\pi$; were the factor of 1/2 not present, a term $\cos(B_{ij}/2)$ would be allowed in the Hamiltonian. The prefactor just absorbs that factor of 1/2 into the definition of the magnetic field.

The (2, 1) model at V = 0 has been shown¹⁵ to confine in d = 2 and to be self-dual and stable in d = 3. These arguments carry through with minimal modification for the general (m, n) theories $(m, n \neq 0)$: these theories are also confining in d = 2 and self-dual and stable in d = 3.

The photon mode has dispersion $\omega \sim k^2$. The motion of charges depends on the values of m and n. The operator $e^{iA_{ii}}$ is a longitudinal hopping operator for particles with vector charge $m\hat{x}_i$, (here \hat{x}_i is the elementary vector charge on an *i*-directed link) as shown in Fig. 4(a), while $e^{iA_{ij}}$ for $i \neq j$ creates a loop of charges of magnitude *n*, as shown in Fig. 4(b). Charges whose charge components are all multiples of *m* may only move in one dimension, along the direction of the charge, while other charges are confined.

Similarly to the scalar charge theories, the (m, n) theory for $m, n \neq 0$ can be produced starting from the decoupled (1,0) and (0,1) theories. One does this by condensing the bound states of charge $n\hat{x}_i$ in the (1,0) theory with charge $-m\hat{x}_i$ in the (0,1) theory.

III. GENERAL COMMENTS ON HIGGS PHASES

Before explicitly solving the models that arise upon spontaneously breaking the higher rank U(1) gauge symmetry, we will provide in this section some general comments and intuition for what to expect for the properties of the resulting Higgs phases.

A. Scalar Charge Theories

Let us first discuss the (1, 1) scalar charge theory. Recall that the operators that create electric charges in the U(1) theories are $e^{iA_{ij}}$, which are raising operators for the E_{ij} and accordingly modify the eigenvalues of the charge density on various sites. In particular, $e^{iA_{xx}}$ creates a line of charges of value 1, -2, and 1 on neighboring lattice sites as shown in Fig. 2(a), and $e^{iA_{xy}}$ creates a square of charge-1 particles as shown in Fig. 2(b).

The Higgs procedure condenses charge p particles; for the moment, we specialize to p = 2. Hence only the parity of charges is well-defined after Higgsing. In particular, the charge -2 particle created by $e^{iA_{xx}}$ may be absorbed into the condensate, and $e^{iA_{xx}}$ becomes the distance-2 hopping operator Z_{xx} for \mathbb{Z}_2 charges (the reason for the notation will be made clear later). This process is shown in Fig. 5. The only change to the action of $e^{iA_{xy}}$ (see Fig. 2(b)) is that +1 and -1 charges are now equivalent since they differ by a condensed charge. Therefore, we see that in the Higgs phase, individual charges are now free to propagate and are no longer immobile. We expect, then, that the resulting Higgs phase will possess some form of conventional topological order.

The above line of reasoning extends to general (m, n) scalar charge theories. By examining Fig. 2, it is clear that if m is odd, $e^{iA_{ii}}$ becomes a hopping operator for \mathbb{Z}_2 charge by 2 units in the *i* direction, and charges become mobile. If m is even, $e^{iA_{xx}}$ acts trivially because all the charges that it creates can be absorbed into the condensate. Likewise, if n is odd, the Higgsed version of $e^{iA_{xy}}$ simply creates four (identical) \mathbb{Z}_2 charges. If n is even, then $e^{iA_{xy}}$ acts trivially.

The behavior of the local operators in the electric sector of the scalar charge theory after Higgsing therefore



FIG. 5. Effect of the Higgs mechanism on the local operator $e^{iA_{xx}}$ in the (1,1) scalar charge theory. The original charge configuration (top) is modified when charge-2 particles are condensed; the charge-2 particle is absorbed into the condensate, and charges +1 and -1 become equivalent.

depend entirely on the parities of m and n (which are relatively prime). We label the classes of Higgsed theories using representations for m and n which make their parities clear. The distinct classes of Higgsed scalar charge theories are those arising from the (1,0), (0,1), (2r+1,2s+1), (2r+2,2x+1), (2r+1,2s+2) scalar charge theories with r, s nonnegative integers. ((0,1) and (1,0) are distinguished separately because their magnetic fields behave differently from other values of (m, n).)

In the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s) theory, electric excitations can hop two lattice sites in any direction. Since *n* is even, there is no one-site hopping operator, so we expect 2^d decoupled copies of the resulting theory, each living on a different sublattice of lattice constant 2. This will turn out to be 2^d copies of the \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code.

The difference between the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s) and (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theories is that in the latter the operator $e^{iA_{xy}}$ (considered after Higgsing) acts nontrivially. In d = 2, it couples the four "copies" by locally creating or annihilating a bound state of the charges on all four sublattices. That is, the d = 2 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory should be produced from the (2r+1, 2s) theory by condensing the four-charge bound state. The topological order turns out to be three copies of the \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code. The analogous consideration in d = 3 leads to four copies of the \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code, as explained in detail in the subsequent sections.

Finally, the Higgsed (2r, 2s+1) theory only allows electric particles to be created in sets of four, which is reminiscent of fracton phases. In d = 3, we find that indeed these (2r, 2s+1) scalar charge theories yield the X-cube model upon breaking the U(1) higher rank gauge symmetry to its \mathbb{Z}_2 subgroup. In d = 2 however, careful examination reveals that we obtain the trivial gapped phase.

The above results can be readily generalized to the condensation of charge p, with p > 2, although the analysis is slightly more complicated. For example, in a U(1) theory with m = 1, consider the operator shown in Fig. 6. Before Higgsing, it creates four charges, +1, -3, +3,



FIG. 6. Operator generating a \mathbb{Z}_3 charge hopping operator in the p = 3 Higgsed (1, 1) scalar charge theory.

and -1 in a line. If charge p = 3 condenses, then the ± 3 charges can be absorbed into the condensate and this operator becomes a hopping operator for \mathbb{Z}_3 charges. It is a straightforward generalization to show if charge p is condensed, then there is a distance-p hopping operator in the Higgsed theory when m and p are relatively prime. Accordingly, if m and p are relatively prime, then the Higgsed (m, 0) theory decouples into sublattices of lattice constant p, and the topological order turns out to be p^2 copies of the \mathbb{Z}_p toric code. More generally, the resulting theory depends only on the values of m and n modulo p. We will not consider p > 2 in much further detail.

B. Vector Charge Theories

Similar logic may be used on the vector charge theories. When m is odd, in the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phase, $e^{iA_{ii}}$ becomes a hopping operator for charges on the i links (see Fig. 4(a)); therefore such *i*-directed charges are mobile in the i direction. If m and n are both odd, then in the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phase charges become mobile in all d dimensions. The operator which moves a particle in a direction transverse to the link it lives on has a non-obvious form, shown in Fig. 7. If m is even, then charges are confined because $e^{iA_{ij}}$ ($i \neq j$) can only create closed strings of charge and $e^{iA_{ii}}$ acts trivially.

As such, the behavior depends mostly on the parities of m and n. However, there are some subtleties in the magnetic sector in d = 3. The \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgsed (m, n) vector charge models in d = 3 are actually labeled not just by the parity of m and n. Specifically, if m is even and nonzero, then there is a distinction between the $m \equiv 0$ mod 4 and $m \equiv 2 \mod 4$ theories. We will discuss this further in Sec. V A.

The distinct classes of \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgsed vector charge theories in d = 3 thus arise from the (1,0), (0,1), (2r+1,2s+1), (2r+1,2s+2), (4r+2,2s+1), and (4r+4,2s+1) vector charge theories, where r and s are nonnegative integers.



FIG. 7. Operator in the (1, 1) vector charge theory that, after p = 2 Higgsing, allows \mathbb{Z}_2 charges on *x*-directed links to hop in the *y* direction.

IV. SCALAR CHARGE HIGGS IN d = 2

Here we will discuss the Higgs phases of the scalar charge theory in d = 2. For a review of relevant aspects of the Higgs mechanism in standard (rank-1) compact U(1) gauge theory, see Appendix A.

Our focus here is on explaining the details of theories for which the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phases are non-trivial. This occurs for the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) and (1,0) scalar charge theories. Other cases, where the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phases are trivial theories, are discussed in Appendix B. All the Higgs phases are summarized in Table II.

A. Higgsing Procedure

We begin by describing the models that we obtain by taking the gauge-matter coupling in the Hamiltonian Eq. (5) to be large. These induce condensation of the charge p matter fields, inducing a \mathbb{Z}_p Higgs transition. We first explain the example of the (1, 1) scalar charge theory, and subsequently discuss the generalization to (m, n).

We recall the general form of the Hamiltonian Eq. (5), and take V (see Eq. (18)) much larger than all other scales in the problem, which freezes

$$\Delta_i \Delta_j \theta + p A_{ij} = 2\pi n \tag{29}$$

Given any initial gauge choice, θ may be set uniformly to zero by choosing the gauge transformation $\alpha(\mathbf{r}) = -\theta(\mathbf{r})/p$ where the θ on the right-hand side is defined using the initial gauge choice. In this gauge,

$$A_{ij} = \frac{2\pi}{p}n\tag{30}$$

for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For simplicity, we specialize to p = 2. Then $e^{iA_{ij}} = \pm 1$ on each site or plaquette. Furthermore, since $e^{iA_{ij}}$ is a raising operator for E_{ij} , its action flips the sign of $(-1)^{(2-\delta_{ij})E_{ij}} = \pm 1$. The factor of 2 for the off-diagonal piece is present because of the factor of 1/2 in its commutation relations, see Eq. (1). Therefore, the spectrum and the commutation relations of $e^{iA_{ij}}$ and



FIG. 8. Terms in the d = 2 Higgsed (1, 1) scalar charge theory Hamiltonian (a) in isolation and (b) in the context of the larger lattice. *a* is associated with the center site and is the product of the eight indicated Pauli *X* operators, which act on the green spins. The b_{zi} operators are are associated with the center links and are products of four Pauli *Z* operators acting on the orange spins. The sites/plaquettes on which operators act (in addition to the spins themselves) have been shaded for easier visibility.

 $(-1)^{(2-\delta_{ij})E_{ij}}$ in the low-energy subspace are reproduced by the identification $e^{iA_{ij}} = Z_{ij}$ and $(-1)^{E_{ij}} = X_{ij}$ where $X_{ij} = X_{ji}$ and $Z_{ij} = Z_{ji}$ are Pauli matrices and have

$$[X_{ab}, Z_{cd}] = 0 \text{ if } (a, b) \neq (c, d)$$

$$\{X_{ab}, Z_{cd}\} = 0 \text{ if } (a, b) = (c, d)$$
(31)

We emphasize that the indices a, b, c, d label which spin the operator is associated with. That is, X_{xx} is a 2 × 2 matrix, not a matrix element. The arrangement and labeling of the spin degrees of freedom is inherited from the parent rotor variables shown in Fig. 1(a). The generalization to p > 2 simply replaces the spin-1/2 particles by *p*-state clock variables and X_{ij} and Z_{ij} by generalized Pauli matrices. We specialize to p = 2 for the rest of the paper; the generalizations are mostly straightforward.

The magnetic terms $\cos B_{ij} \equiv b_{ij}$ in the Hamiltonian (6) are precisely products of Z operators after Higgsing. Their forms, which can be straightforwardly deduced from the form of B_{ij} in Eq. (20), are shown in Fig. 8.

The operator in the Gauss' Law term Eq. (7) of the Hamiltonian is strongly fluctuating because charge is condensed. However, since only charge-2 matter fields are condensed, charge parity is still a good quantum number. The U(1) version of H_{Gauss} should then be replaced

by a mod 2 Gauss' law, which is enforced by the term

$$-U\sum_{\mathbf{r}} a(\mathbf{r}) \equiv -U\sum_{\mathbf{r}} (-1)^{\sum_{i,j} \Delta_i \Delta_j E_{ij}}, \qquad (32)$$

with $U \propto U$. Above we have suppressed the site labels for E_{ij} . In the gauge theory $(U \to \infty)$ language, *a* is constrained to equal 1, which just says that $\sum_{i,j} \Delta_i \Delta_j E_{ij}$ is even, in accordance with Gauss' Law. Note that charge 1 excitations in this model cost an energy on the order of $U \propto \tilde{U}$, which is due to the fact only charge *p* excitations exist below the energy scale \tilde{U} in the U(1) theory.

Note that several diagonal terms drop out of the expression of Gauss' Law:

$$(-1)^{\Delta_i^2 E_{ii}(\mathbf{r})} = X_{ii}(\mathbf{r} + \hat{x}_i)(X_{xx}(\mathbf{r}))^{-2}X_{xx}(\mathbf{r} - \hat{x}_i)$$

= $X_{xx}(\mathbf{r} + \hat{x}_i)X_{xx}(\mathbf{r} - \hat{x}_i)$ (33)

This is precisely the manifestation of the intuition we saw in Sec. III. The $E_{xx}(\mathbf{r})$ terms were responsible for the charge-2 particles created by $e^{iA_{xx}}$; these terms drop out of the expression for *a* because charge-2 particles are condensed.

From this expression, we find that the operator $a(\mathbf{r})$ (which lives on sites) involves 8 spins in d = 2. Its form is shown in Fig. 8. The final Hamiltonian is

$$H_{2D} = -\frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{links}} (b_{zx} + b_{zy}) - h_s \sum_{\text{sites},i} X_{ii} - h_p \sum_{\text{plaquettes}} X_{xy} - U \sum_{\text{sites}} a \qquad (34)$$

Compared to Eq. (6), we have set $g_f = g_s = g$ for simplicity and renamed h_f (f for "face") to h_p (p for "plaquette") to be more appropriate for d = 2. The h_s and h_p terms induce fluctuations in the gauge field, analogous to the \tilde{h}_s and \tilde{h}_f terms in the parent U(1)theory.

The Higgs procedure for general (m, n) scalar charge theories is exactly the same as for the (1, 1) theory. The large-V limit is still well-defined, θ can be gauged away, and the condition Eq. (30) still results, independent of mand n. The operator identifications are therefore identical. The only differences come in the form of Gauss' Law and the magnetic field operators. In particular, only the mth power of site operators X_{ii} and the nth power of the plaquette operator X_{xy} appear in the (m, n) version of Eq. (32). Therefore, the form of a is determined only by the parity of m and n. In particular, if m (n) is even, the site (plaquette) operators are absent in a.

Likewise, the form of the magnetic field term depends on m and n. For $m, n \neq 0$, only the mth power of Z_{xy} and the nth power of Z_{ii} appear in the expressions for b_{zi} , and again the form of the b_{zi} depend only on the parity of m and n if both are nonzero. The (0, 1) theory has no magnetic field, while the (1, 0) theory has a somewhat different form of the magnetic field; these cases must be treated separately but analogously.



FIG. 9. Schematic phase diagram at $V = \infty$ for the d = 2 (1, 1) scalar charge theory. The phases at large and small h are accurate, but the phase boundaries and behavior at intermediate coupling are schematic. The direct transition from \mathbb{Z}_2^3 to paramagnetism is protected by C_4 rotation symmetry.

In accordance with the intuition from Sec. III, we have found that the Higgsed theory depends entirely on the parity of m and n (for $m, n \neq 0$). There are therefore five scalar charge theories to consider: the (1,0), (0,1), (2r+1,2s+1), (2r+1,2s), and (2r,2s+1) theories. (Recall that m and n can always be defined to be relatively prime, so there is no (2r, 2s) theory.) More generally, for p > 2, the Higgsed theory depends on m and n modulo p.

B. (2r+1, 2s+1) Scalar Charge Theory

The central claim of this section is that the Higgsed model Eq. (34), which describes the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phase of the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theories, has the schematic phase diagram shown in Fig. 9. We will show that the Higgs phase has \mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order, which can be driven either into \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order or to a confined (paramagnetic) phase by tuning the "Zeeman fields" h_s and h_p .

1. Explicit Solution at $h_s = h_p = 0$

We first show explicitly that at $h_s = h_p = 0$, the Higgsed (1, 1) scalar charge model in d = 2 has \mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order (three copies of the toric code). This will be shown by computing the ground state degeneracy, the excitations, and their fusion and braiding rules.

At $h_s = h_p = 0$, Eq. (34) is a commuting projector model and thus is exactly soluble. Ground states $|G\rangle$ must obey the simultaneous but not necessarily independent constraints $(a - 1)|G\rangle = 0$ and $(b_{zi} - 1)|G\rangle = 0$. The number of ground states is simply 2^{N-C} where N is the number of spins and C is the number of independent constraints. For commuting projector models of spin-1/2 particles, each constraint can be encoded as a binary vector such that independent constraints produce linearly independent (over \mathbb{Z}_2) vectors; see Ref. 31 for the details. Therefore C is equal to the rank over \mathbb{Z}_2 of the matrix consisting of all these binary vectors. Using this method we checked numerically (for even $L \leq 50$) that the ground state degeneracy of Eq. (34) on an $L \times L$ torus is 2^6 , which is the correct degeneracy for \mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order.

One such ground state is constructed in the string-net picture by starting from the state $|\{X = +1\}\rangle$ in which all spins are in the X = +1 eigenstate. Obviously this satisfies all the a = 1 constraints but not the $b_{zi} = 1$ constraints. One ground state $|0\rangle$ is formed as the superposition

$$|0\rangle = \sum_{\{n_i(\mathbf{r})\}\in\{0,1\}^{2L^2}} \prod_{\mathbf{r},i} (b_{zi}(\mathbf{r}))^{n_i(\mathbf{r})} |\{X=+1\}\rangle \quad (35)$$

That is, $|0\rangle$ is a superposition of all possible products of b_{zi} applied to the spin-polarized state $|\{X = +1\}\rangle$.

The other ground states are, as usual, created by acting on $|0\rangle$ with Wilson loop operators wrapping around the handles of the torus. To understand the ground states, it suffices to understand the excitations of the model, as the Wilson loops can be constructed from the string operators which create pairs of anyons.

Consider the state $Z_{ii}(\mathbf{r})|0\rangle$; it is still an eigenstate of all the terms in the Hamiltonian, but since Z_{ii} anticommutes with a, the eigenvalue of $a(\mathbf{r} \pm \hat{i})$ is -1. That is, Z_{ii} creates a pair of electric excitations separated by two sites in the i direction. If, for the moment, we disregard the action of Z_{xy} , this motivates a guess that there are up to four topologically distinct single-electric-charge excitations in the model, one on each of the four sublattices of lattice constant 2. A pair of such excitations is created by a string of Z_{ii} operators separated by two sites; three types of excitations are shown on the left-hand side of Fig. 10(a).

Considering only the action of the site operators Z_{ii} , it would seem that there are four topologically distinct electric excitations. However, Z_{xy} anticommutes with the four *a* operators which touch its plaquette. That is, the local action of Z_{xy} converts the bound state of three charges on a single plaquette into a single-charge state on the fourth sublattice, shown in Fig. 10(b). Therefore there are only three independent electric anyons, but each one carries a local degree of freedom which is modified by Z_{xy} .

The story is similar in the magnetic sector; the independent excitations are slightly more complicated but produced similarly, and are shown on the right-hand side of Fig. 10(a). Again there are three distinct excitations, and it can be easily checked that X_{xy} applied to the end of a string modifies local degrees of freedom.

It is straightforward to check from the string operators that, as labeled in Fig. 10(a), e_i and m_i braid as e and min the toric code and e_i and m_j braid trivially for $i \neq j$. Therefore, this model indeed has \mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order.



FIG. 10. (a): String operators and the anyons they create in the Higgsed (1, 1) scalar charge model. Electric excitations, shown on the left, consist of (green-boxed) sites where the eigenvalue of a is -1 and are created by a string of Z operators acting on the orange spins. Magnetic excitations, shown on the right, consist of a set of (heavy orange) links where the eigenvalue of b_{zi} is -1 and are created by a string of X operators acting on the green spins. For the purposes of checking braiding, all the pictures should be regarded as representing the same portion of the square lattice. The sites/plaquettes on which an operator acts have been shaded (light orange/green) for easier visibility. (b) The local action of Z_{xy} on a bound state of e_1 , e_2 , and e_3 converts the bound state to a single-charge excitation on the top-left site.

2. Condensation Transition From Large h_p

The local degree of freedom associated with the action of X_{xy} or Z_{xy} is important in that it allows for transitions to other nontrivial phases. To illustrate the point, we will show that at large h_p , two excitations which differ only by a local operator become topologically inequivalent, driving the model to \mathbb{Z}_2^4 order. Equivalently, starting



FIG. 11. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian at large h_p . The operators are products of the indicated spins; the plaquette spins are frozen out. (b) Sublattice of spins (dark) which form one of four decoupled copies of the toric code at large h_p . The large- h_p effective Hamiltonian Eq. (36) does not couple the dark spins to any others. Some links of the lattice have been lightened to make it easier to see the relation to the toric code.

at large h_p and reducing it condenses the four-electriccharge bound state of \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order. A related mechanism will occur in several other models that we study.

We begin by simply finding the effective Hamiltonian at large h_p . At zeroth order, the low-energy subspace consists of any spin configuration on the sites and all the plaquette spins pinned to the eigenstate $X_{xy} = +1$. This leads to extensive ground state degeneracy, with low-energy states labeled entirely by the site spin configuration. This degeneracy is split in degenerate perturbation theory by $U, 1/g^2 > 0$. The lowest-order contributions are first-order in U/h_p and fourth-order in $1/g^2h_p$; the effective Hamiltonian is

$$H_{eff} = -\sum_{\text{sites}} \left(U\tilde{a} + K\tilde{b} \right) \tag{36}$$

where \tilde{a} and b are the operators shown in Fig. 11(a) and $K \sim 1/(g^8 h_p^3)$

We claim that this effective Hamiltonian is precisely four copies of the toric code. To see this, consider the sublattice of spins shown in Fig. 11(b). If we interpret these spins as living on the links of a lattice of length 2, as indicated by the set of darkened bonds in Fig. 11(b), by inspection each \tilde{a} acts on exactly one such sublattice. On that sublattice, it acts exactly as a toric code star operator. Likewise, each \tilde{b} acts on a single sublattice as a toric code plaquette operator. Hence each of the four distinct sublattices is one copy of the toric code.

14

Notice that all the operators that create electric excitations at large h_p also create electric excitations on the same sites at $h_p = 0$. However, as we saw previously, at $h_p = 0$ the bound state of three of those excitations is equivalent to the fourth up to a local application of Z_{xy} . By contrast, at large h_p , Z_{xy} takes the system out of the low-energy subspace; accordingly, the process in which a bound state of three types of charge is fused into the fourth type of charge is no longer allowed. That is, at small h_p , this fourth type of electric charge is equivalent to the fusion of the other three types, but at large h_p it is a topologically distinct excitation.

3. Large-h_s limit

Finally, we may ask about the topological order of the large h_s limit. In this case, the electric sector is confined because electric strings have finite tension, and one may expect a trivial paramagnetic limit. We demonstrate this using degenerate perturbation theory.

The low-energy subspace consists of all states with the site spins in the $X_{ii} = +1$ eigenstate. The *a* and h_p terms both contribute at first order in perturbation theory; *a* is a product of X_{xy} around a plaquette of the dual lattice, and h_p is a longitudinal magnetic field. To first order, the model is classical and fully gapped. Importantly, the b_{zi} terms contribute in degenerate perturbation theory only at *L*th order in $1/(g^2h_s)$, with *L* the linear system size (At this order, the string of b_{zi} operators consists only of face spins and thus commutes with the h_s terms). In this limit, $1/g^2$ needs to be larger than *U* and h_p by an amount exponentially large in the system size in order to have an effect comparable to the gap in the first-order model. Hence, in the thermodynamic limit the system is indeed a trivial paramagnet.

As can be seen from Fig. 10(a), C_4 rotation symmetry rotates electric particles into each other. If this symmetry is preserved, then all of the electric particles should condense at the same time and \mathbb{Z}_2^3 transitions directly to a paramagnetic phase. Breaking rotational symmetry generally leads to intermediate phases.

C. (1,0) Scalar Charge Theory

Recall that the (1,0) scalar charge theory has no (nontrivial) plaquette degrees of freedom. The Higgsed Hamiltonian can be checked straightforwardly to be equal to the effective Hamiltonian Eq. (36) of the large- h_p limit of the Higgsed (2r+1, 2s+1) scalar charge theory, with Kreplaced by $1/g^2$ (see Fig. 11(a) for operator definitions). This Higgsed theory is therefore exactly four decoupled copies of the \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code. It confines at large h_s .

V. VECTOR CHARGE HIGGS IN d = 2

The Higgsing procedure for the vector charge theories has only minor differences from the scalar charge theories. We will comment on those differences, then discuss the theories that produce nontrivial Higgs phases; see Appendix B for discussion of trivial Higgs phases. All the Higgs phases are summarized in Table II.

A. Changes to the Higgsing Procedure

As in the scalar charge theories, the matter field can still be gauged away, and the operator identifications all go through; if m(n) is even, then the site (plaquette) spins drop out of Gauss' Laws and the plaquette (site) spins drop out of the magnetic field. In d = 2, by the same arguments as for the scalar charge theories, the Higgsed (m, n) vector charge theory for nonzero m and n is determined entirely by the parity of m and n (or, for p > 2, the values of m and n modulo p). There are therefore five total theories to consider. This changes slightly in d = 3, as will be discussed in Sec. VIII.

B. (2r, 2s+1) Vector Charge

Note that this case includes the (2,1) theory, which is the theory with continuous rotational invariance.

The Higgsed model has Hamiltonian $H = -\frac{1}{2}\sum_{h=1}^{n} b - U\sum_{h=1}^{n} \sum_{h=1}^{n} a_{h}$

$$I = -\frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{sites}} b - U \sum_{i} \sum_{i-\text{links}} a_i$$
$$-h_s \sum_{\text{sites},i} X_{ii} - h_p \sum_{\text{plaquettes}} X_{xy} \qquad (37)$$

where the forms of the operators a_i and b are shown in Fig. 12(a). The site and plaquette spins are decoupled.

By inspection the plaquette sector of this model is the classical Ising model in a magnetic field, which has a unique ground state for all $h_p \neq 0$.

As for the site sector, for $h_s \ll 1/g^2$, i.e. in the Higgs phase, we can perform degenerate perturbation theory. The h_s term contributes at fourth order in $1/g^2h_s$ and produces the same model as the large- h_p limit of the (2r+1, 2s+1) scalar charge model Eq. (36) (compare *b* in Fig. 12(a) to \tilde{b} in Fig. 11(a)). Its topological order is four copies of the toric code, i.e. \mathbb{Z}_2^4 lattice gauge theory. At large h_s , we simply have a trivial paramagnet. The phase diagram is shown in Fig. 12(b); the direct transition to a paramagnet is protected by C_4 rotation symmetry, which permutes the decoupled copies of toric code.

C. (2r+1, 2s+1) Vector Charge

The Hamiltonian for the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory takes the same form as the Hamiltonian Eq. (37)





FIG. 12. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian and (b) phase diagram of the d = 2 Higgsed (2r, 2s + 1) vector charge Hamiltonian. a_i are associated with the center links and is the product of the two indicated Pauli X operators, which act on the green spins. The *b* operator is associated with the center site and is a product of the indicated Pauli Z operators on the four orange spins. The direct transition in (b) is protected by C_4 rotation symmetry.

for the (2r, 2s + 1) theory, but a_i and b take different forms because of the difference in factors of 2 in Gauss' Law and the magnetic field. Their forms are shown in Fig. 13(a).

At $h_s = h_p = 0$, the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory is equivalent to the model obtained in the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory, as can be seen by comparing Figs. 13(a) and 8 and performing a global spin rotation. The Higgs phase of this model therefore also has \mathbb{Z}_2^3 topological order.

However, the "electric field" terms hX_{ij} are not dual to those in the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory, so their effects should be studied as well. Since each magnetic excitation is created by an X_{ii} operator, large h_s should condense the entire magnetic sector, confining the electric sector and leading to a trivial paramagnet. In degenerate perturbation theory, this arises from the fact that X_{xy} and the a_i contribute at first order (the site spins simply drop out of the a_i) and b only contributes at order L^2 in $1/g^2h_s$, where L is the linear system size. Therefore, up to exponentially small corrections in the system size, the first-order effective Hamiltonian, which describes a classical paramagnet, describes the system accurately.

At large h_p , the story is similar; the X_{ii} and a_i contribute at first order in perturbation theory and describe a classical paramagnet of the site spins, while b contributes at Lth order and can be neglected.

FIG. 13. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian and (b) schematic phase diagram of the d = 2 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory Hamiltonian. a_i are associated with the center bonds and is the product of the four indicated Pauli X operators, which act on the green spins. The *b* operator is associated with the center site and is a product of the indicated Pauli Z operators on the eight orange spins. The direct transition to a paramagnet in (b) is protected by C_4 rotational symmetry.

The phase diagram is summarized in Fig. 13(b). Much like the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory, the direct transition to a paramagnet is protected by the C_4 rotational symmetry of the square lattice, which permutes magnetic particles.

VI. (2r, 2s + 1) SCALAR CHARGE HIGGS IN d = 3 AND FRACTON ORDER

We now turn to the d = 3 models. For the scalar charge models, the Higgsing procedures are all identical to the d = 2 case, as is the argument that the resulting model depends only on the parity of m and n. Accordingly, we will simply state the resulting Hamiltonian and then analyze the phase diagram.

We begin by studying the models which have fractonic Higgs phases.



FIG. 14. Terms in the Hamiltonian Eq. (38) for the Higgsed (0, 1) scalar charge model in d = 3. a is a product of Pauli X operators on the twelve green spins, while the b_{ii} are products of four Pauli Z operators on the orange spins.

A. (0,1) Scalar Charge

The Hamiltonian of the d = 3 Higgsed (0, 1) scalar charge model is

$$H = -U\sum_{\text{sites}} a - \frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{cubes},i} b_{ii} - h_f \sum_{\text{faces},i < j} X_{ij} \quad (38)$$

where \tilde{a} and \tilde{b}_{ii} , shown in Fig. 14, are just a and b_{ii} with the site operators frozen out. This is precisely the X-cube model²⁵ on the dual cubic lattice. Accordingly, this phase has fracton order at small h_f . At large h_f , the system becomes paramagnetic.

The (0, 1) scalar charge model is the natural U(1) generalization of the X-cube model, so the relationship between them is not surprising. However, it can be checked that the (0, 1) scalar charge model has pointlike magnetic monopoles and may therefore suffer from confinement; the relevance of the monopole creation operators must be studied in more detail. The X-cube phase, on the other hand, is known to be stable.

B. (2r+2, 2s+1) Scalar Charge

The (2r + 2, 2s + 1) scalar charge model (for $r, s \ge 0$) must be considered separately from the (0, 1) theory because of the presence of the A_{ii} degrees of freedom in the U(1) theory.

The Hamiltonian for the d = 3 Higgsed (2r+2, 2s+1)



FIG. 15. Terms in the Hamiltonian for the Higgsed (2r, 2s+1) scalar charge theory in d = 3. The *a* operators are associated with the sites and are products of twelve X_{ij} operators acting on the green spins. The b_{ij} operators are products of two (off-diagonal terms, associated with links) or four (diagonal terms, associated with cubes) Pauli Z_{ij} operators acting on the orange spins.

scalar charge theory is

$$H = -U \sum_{\text{sites}} a - \frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{cubes},i} b_{ii} - \frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{links},i,j} b_{ij}$$
$$-h_s \sum_{\text{sites},i} X_{ii} - h_f \sum_{\text{faces},i < j} X_{ij}$$
(39)

with the operators a and b_{ij} defined in Fig. 15.

By inspection, the face spins form the X-cube model Eq. (38) (c.f. Fig. 14), and the site spins form decoupled, interpenetrating planes of transverse field 2+1dimensional Ising models. The various decouplings in this model are, of course, fine-tuned. In particular, there are operators in the U(1) theory which are irrelevant (in the renormalization group sense) in the photon phase but which will couple the site spins to the face spins (as well coupling the planes of Ising model to each other). However, the topological stability of the X-cube model ensures that these operators do not destroy the fracton order.

The 2 + 1-dimensional Ising order of the site degrees of freedom, on the other hand, is fine-tuned, with 3Ldegenerate ground states at $h_s = 0$. The fate of this degeneracy is non-universal and depends on what operators are added to the theory.

We have found an infinite class of U(1) scalar charge models with a fractonic Higgs phase. Note that among the scalar charge theories, the only theory with continuous rotational invariance is the (1, 1) theory, which is not in the class we consider here. We will find that this is a general feature of the models we consider - X-cube order is never obtained by Higgsing a model with continuous rotational symmetry.

VII. (2r+1, 2s+1) SCALAR CHARGE HIGGS IN d=3

For the next two sections, we will focus on the (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar and vector charge models. Their Higgs phases are described by interesting models for multiple copies of d = 3 toric code topological order, and they have rich phase diagrams.

The \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phase of the (2r+1, 2s+1) scalar charge model produces an interesting model with \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order, and upon breaking rotational invariance it can be driven to a fracton phase – the X-cube model. Its phase diagram is shown schematically in Fig. 16(b).

The Hamiltonian for the d = 3 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1)scalar charge theory is the same form Eq. (39) as for the (2r + 2, 2s + 1) models we considered in the previous section, but the operators a and b_{ij} are defined differently - they are shown in Fig. 16(a). The operator a is an 18spin operator, while all the b_{ij} are 4-spin operators. We now analyze this model in various limits.

A. Higgs Phase

We show explicitly that at $h_f = h_s = 0$, this model realizes \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order, i.e. it is equivalent to four copies of the \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code.

At $h_f = h_s = 0$ we again have a commuting projector model and the ground state degeneracy can be computed as in the d = 2 models; we find that it is 2^{12} on the $L \times L \times L$ 3-torus for L even. This is consistent with \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order.

As usual, one ground state is obtained by starting from the state with all spins in the $X_{ij} = +1$ eigenstate and superposing over all applications of b_{ij} operators on this reference state. The other ground states are obtained by applying Wilson loops around handles of the 3-torus, so we turn to the excitations.

The behavior of this model in the electric sector is similar to the d = 2 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory; Z_{ii} creates a pair of excitations which can hop by two sites in



FIG. 16. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian and (b) schematic phase diagram of the d = 3 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory Hamiltonian. a are associated with the sites and is the product of eighteen Pauli X operators, which act on the green spins. The b_{ij} operators are products of four Pauli Z operators acting on the orange spins. The diagonal components b_{ii} are associated with cubes and the off-diagonal components are associated with links. The direct transitions in (b) are protected by cubic rotation symmetry.

any direction. Temporarily ignoring the face spins, there are eight obvious electric excitations, created by acting with Z_{ii} on any of the eight sublattices with lattice constant 2. Four are shown on the left side of Fig. 17.

As in the d = 2 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory, these excitations are not all independent. The local ac-



FIG. 17. String and membrane operators and excitations in the Higgsed d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge model. The bold link labeled l_0 is the same link in all images so that braiding statistics can be checked; e_i excitations braid nontrivially with m_i strings but no others. Left: pairs of electric particles (green boxes) are created by a string of Z operators acting on the orange spins (relevant sites shaded in orange), and have a = -1. Middle: excitation patterns of magnetic strings. The orange links have either b_{yx} or $b_{zx} = -1$, as appropriate for the link orientation. Pink cubes have $b_{xx} = b_{zz} = -1$, and blue cubes have $b_{xx} = b_{yy} = -1$. Right: membrane operators, consisting of products of X_{ij} on the green spins, for producing the magnetic strings shown in the middle. The membrane operators for m_1 and m_2 include all X_{xz} operators within the membrane, while those for m_2 and m_3 include all X_{xy} operators within the membrane.

tion of Z_{ij} is the same as in d = 2 (see Fig. 10(b)); it locally turns any three excitations on the sites of a single face into a single excitation on the fourth site of that face. Straightforward counting shows that this leaves four independent electric excitations, shown in Fig. 17, and that Z_{ij} toggles local degrees of freedom for these excitations.

As expected, there are four independent magnetic string excitations, created by membrane operators, shown in Fig. 17. Using the labeling in Fig. 17, it can be checked by inspection that a Wilson loop for e_i anticommutes with the membrane operator creating an m_i string and commutes with the operators creating an

 m_j string for $i \neq j$. Accordingly the topological order is \mathbb{Z}_2^4 .

B. Large h_f Limit

The large h_f limit is treated analogously to the d = 2 case; the face spins are pinned to the $X_{ij} = +1$ eigenstate. The operator Z_{ij} which transmutes a three-charge bound state of the $h_f = 0$ model to the fourth charge on the face now leaves the low-energy subspace; accordingly, the fourth charge on a face is now an independent excita-



FIG. 18. (a) Terms in the effective Hamiltonian Eq. (40) for the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge model at large h_f . (b) One of eight sublattices (dark) of site spins; the terms in (a) do not couple different sublattices. Some bonds of the lattice have been lightened to make the relation to the d = 3 toric code clearer.

tion from the other three charges on that face. Therefore, all the eight electric excitations discussed previously become topologically distinct, and the system should have \mathbb{Z}_2^8 topological order.

This conclusion can be checked explicitly by computing the effective Hamiltonian with degenerate perturbation theory. The electric terms contribute at first order in U/h_f and the off-diagonal magnetic terms contribute at fourth order in $1/g^2h_f$; the effective Hamiltonian is

$$H_{eff} = -\sum_{\text{sites}} \left(U\tilde{a} + K\sum_{i} \tilde{b}_{i} \right) \tag{40}$$

where \tilde{a} and \tilde{b}_i are shown in Fig. 18(a) and $K \sim 1/g^8 h_f^3$. (The diagonal magnetic terms only contribute at higher order in $1/g^2 h_f$.)

Similarly to the d = 2 case, this model is precisely eight copies of the d = 3 toric code. The proof is similar to d = 2; consider only the spins shown in Fig. 18(b). There are eight such sublattices of spins (translate the sublattice by one unit in any set of lattice basis directions), and each term in the Hamiltonian acts on only a single sublattice; the *a* terms as a toric code star operator and the b_i terms as a toric code plaquette operator. Collecting all the terms which act on each of the eight possible sublattices produces exactly one copy of the toric code for each of the eight sublattices.

The transition from large h_f to small h_f is therefore a condensation transition of four-charge bound states, where the four charges live on a single face of the lattice. Equivalently, as h_f increases, a local degree of freedom gets frozen out, causing excitations which differed only by that local degree of freedom to become topologically distinct.

In the absence of any symmetries, a direct transition from \mathbb{Z}_2^8 to \mathbb{Z}_2^4 would either be first order, or it would correspond to a multicritical point. Here the lattice symmetries, which permute the different electric charges, can protect the critical point, leaving only one relevant perturbation that tunes between the \mathbb{Z}_2^4 and \mathbb{Z}_2^8 phases. Analogous statements hold also for the transition to the trivial paramagnetic phase.

As an aside, the Hamiltonian for the Higgsed (1,0) scalar charge model happens to be exactly Eq. (40) (with operator definitions in Fig. 18(a)). This model therefore also has \mathbb{Z}_2^8 topological order and confines at large h_s .

C. Large h_s Limit - X-Cube Phase

The large h_s limit can also be treated in degenerate perturbation theory, much like the large h_f limit. In d = 2, this limit produced a trivial paramagnet. In d = 3, however, the resulting model is very different. The *a* operator again contributes at first order (as does h_f), but so do b_{ii} ; these operators did not exist in d = 2. The remaining spins live on the faces of the lattice, and the effective Hamiltonian is the X-cube model Eq. (38).

Remarkably, then, as h_s increases this model may have a direct transition from \mathbb{Z}_2^4 conventional topological order to X-cube order. Such a transition is of considerable interest; we defer it to future work.

Recall that the (1, 1) model, which Higgses to the model under consideration, has continuous rotational invariance. In taking h_s large with h_f small, we have broken the continuous rotational invariance down to the symmetry of the cubic lattice. Thus we see that in this model, the appearance of the X-cube model required terms whose continuum limit breaks continuous rotational symmetry down to discrete rotational symmetry of the cubic lattice.

VIII. (2r+1, 2s+1) VECTOR CHARGE HIGGS IN d = 3

Before discussing the (2r+1, 2s+1) vector charge theory, we briefly comment on a small modification of the results of the Higgs procedure in d = 3 for vector charge theories. The factor of $2/(3-(-1)^m)$ in the off-diagonal components of B_{ij} in Eq. (28) leads to a difference be-

tween $m \equiv 0 \mod 4$ and $m \equiv 2 \mod 4$. Specifically, if $m = 2m_0$ with m_0 an integer, then for $i \neq j$

$$B_{ij} = \sum_{k \neq i,j} \left[m_0 \left(\Delta_i \Delta_k A_{jk} + \Delta_j \Delta_k A_{ik} - \Delta_k^2 A_{ij} \right) - n \Delta_i \Delta_j A_{kk} \right]$$
(41)

Upon Higgsing, this operator becomes, in the low-energy subspace, a product of $Z_{ij} = e^{iA_{ij}}$. In particular, the face spins Z_{ij} for $i \neq j$ always appear raised to the power of m_0 . If m_0 is even, then the face spins will all drop out. If m_0 is odd, then the face spins are present. Therefore

the Higgsed theories with different parities of $m_0 = m/2$ are distinct.

The Hamiltonian for the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge model is

$$H = -U\sum_{i}\sum_{i-\text{links}}a_{i} - \frac{1}{g^{2}}\sum_{\text{sites},i}b_{ii} - \frac{1}{g^{2}}\sum_{\text{faces},i(42)$$

The forms of a_i and b_{ij} are shown in Fig. 19(a), and its phase diagram (a summary of this section) is given in Fig. 19(b).

A. Higgs Phase

The Higgs phase is, as usual, understood from the $h_f = h_s = 0$ commuting projector model. Its ground state degeneracy is computed to be 2^{22} . The local operator $c = \prod_{\text{cube}} Z_{ij}$, for any elementary cube, commutes with the Hamiltonian. There is only one such independent operator (the others are generated by multiplying cby various b_{ij} for $i \neq j$). The simplest operator which commutes with H but anticommutes with c is the product C of all X_{xy} in planes with even values of z, all X_{xz} in planes with even values of y, and all X_{yz} in planes with even values of x. We can therefore think of C as generating an Ising (\mathbb{Z}_2) global symmetry, but such a symmetry is spontaneously broken in 3+1D. After accounting for the symmetry enrichment, the topological degeneracy is at most 2^{21} ; we claim that the remaining degeneracy is topological, and that the topological order is \mathbb{Z}_2^7 .

It is simplest to analyze the magnetic sector. Breaking the site degrees of freedom into eight sublattices as usual, the action of the b_{ii} on the site degrees of freedom looks like toric code plaquette operators on lattice constant 2 sublattices. Accordingly, membranes of X_{ii} operators living on the sublattices create eight types of simple magnetic strings, an example of which is shown in Fig. 20(a). As usual, though, we must account for action of X_{ij} . Applying a string of X_{ij} creates the set of excitations shown in Fig. 20(b). It is straightforward to check that this pattern of excitations is precisely the bound state of all eight simple strings. Therefore, there are only seven independent magnetic strings, as a bound state of seven simple strings may be converted into the eighth simple string using the aforementioned string operator. It is straightforward but laborious to show that there are also seven independent electric excitations which braid appropriately for \mathbb{Z}_2^7 topological order; two examples are shown in Fig. 21.

B. Large-field limits

1. Large h_s

At $h_s = 0$, every magnetic string excitation in the \mathbb{Z}_2^7 topological order can be created exclusively with X_{ii} . When h_s is taken large, one expects all the magnetic strings to condense and the electric particles to confine. Remarkably, this process simultaneously causes a point-like magnetic excitation to *deconfine*, and the large- h_s model has \mathbb{Z}_2 topological order.

To understand what has happened from an intuitive confinement picture, consider the action of a string of X_{ij} operators on the ground state at $h_s = h_f = 0$, shown in Fig. 22. This string has tension because it anticommutes with magnetic site terms b_{ii} along the string, shown as orange spheres in the figure, and also anticommutes with a set of off-diagonal magnetic terms at each end of the string, shown as the blue faces in the figure. At large h_s , the site excitations (rather, strings of them) are condensed; this causes the string to lose tension and the collection of magnetic face excitations at each end of the string becomes a deconfined anyon.

More explicitly, we can perform the usual degenerate perturbation theory. In this limit, the site spins freeze out of the a_i and the off-diagonal magnetic terms con-



FIG. 19. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian and (b) phase diagram for the d = 3 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory. The labels for the Pauli operators are omitted to avoid clutter. The a_i are associated with the center bonds and are the product of Pauli X operators on the six green spins. The diagonal (off-diagonal) b_{ij} operators are associated with the center site (face) and are products of Pauli Z operators on the eight (ten) orange spins. The direct transitions from the \mathbb{Z}_2^7 phase in (b) are protected by the rotational symmetries of the cubic lattice.

tribute at first order. The diagonal magnetic terms contribute at sixth order, but they generate operators equal to products of four off-diagonal terms and thus do not affect the analysis. The effective Hamiltonian is

$$H_{eff} = -U \sum_{i \text{ links}} \tilde{a}_i - \frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{faces}, i < j} b_{ij} - h_f \sum_{\text{faces}} X_{ij} \quad (43)$$

where \tilde{a}_i are a_i with the site operators removed. This is a commuting projector model at $h_f = 0$.

To understand the $h_f = 0$ model, note that the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry generator C still commutes with the Hamil-



FIG. 20. (a) Elementary membrane operator $(X_{xx} \text{ acting on green site spins})$ and associated string of excitations of b_{yy} and b_{zz} terms (orange squares) for the Higgsed (2r+1, 2s+1) vector charge model in d = 3. This membrane can live on eight possible sublattices of lattice constant 2. (b) Action of a string of X_{ij} operators on green face spins, creating excitations of b_{yy} and b_{zz} on sites (orange spheres). This collection of excitations is equal to a bound state of all eight of the strings discussed in part (a); such a bound state is topologically trivial since it can be destroyed by a string operator.



FIG. 21. Two types of string operators (Z operators acting on orange spins) and their associated electric particles (green links) in the Higgsed d = 3 (2r+1, 2s+1) vector charge model. Eight strings total are obtained by shifting these operators by zero or one unit in one or both lattice directions perpendicular to the green links, but only seven of are topologically distinct because bound states of eight excitations can be destroyed with a local operator.

tonian. To make the discussion clearer, let us imagine breaking this symmetry explicitly by adding $-\lambda \sum_{\text{cubes}} c$ to the Hamiltonian for λ small. Noting that a_i and c are the plaquette and star operators of the d = 3 toric code on the dual lattice, we see that this symmetry-broken model is exactly the d = 3 toric code. At $\lambda = 0$, then, the



FIG. 22. Open string of X_{xy} acting on the green faces and its associated excitations in the Higgs phase of the d = 3vector charge (2r + 1, 2s + 1) model. The blue faces have magnetic excitations; off-diagonal b_{ij} terms have eigenvalue -1 on those phases. The orange spheres are site excitations $(b_{ii}$ which have eigenvalue -1) and give the string tension; at large h_s , they condense, deconfining the collection of blue face excitations.

system is in a \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code phase with additional spontaneous breaking of an Ising symmetry. The topological order must therefore be stable to a small but nonzero h_f .

2. Large h_f

At large h_f , the system has a unique, approximately classical ground state. As usual, we check this by degenerate perturbation theory. The a_i and h_s contribute at first order. If $1/g^2 = 0$, then this first-order effective model is immediately seen to be classical and have a unique ground state.

The lowest-order contribution of the b_{ij} is at tenth order in $1/g^2h_f$ (six b_{ii} form a closed 2x2x2 cube and four b_{ij} for $i \neq j$ remove the rest of the face spins), but it just contributes an overall constant. The lowest-order nontrivial contribution occurs at *L*th order in degenerate perturbation theory. Therefore, in the thermodynamic limit, with any $1/g^2 \ll h_f$, the classical effective model remains valid.

IX. (4r+2, 2s+1) VECTOR CHARGE HIGGS IN d=3

Recall that the (2, 1) vector charge model has continuous rotational invariance. In this section we analyze the Higgs mechanism for the class of theories that include said (2, 1) vector charge model.

The Hamiltonian for the d = 3 Higgsed (4r+2, 2s+1) vector charge theory is

$$H = -U\sum_{i}\sum_{i-\text{links}}a_i - \frac{1}{g^2}\sum_{\text{sites},i}b_{ii} - \frac{1}{g^2}\sum_{\text{faces},i(44)$$

with the operators shown in Fig. 23.

We analyze the Higgs phase by taking $h_s = h_f = 0$. In this limit, it is obvious that Z_{ii} on every site commutes with the Hamiltonian. The simplest product of site Xoperators which commutes with the Hamiltonian is the product of all X_{ii} operators in a plane perpendicular to the *i* direction; these membrane operators anticommute with the Z_{ii} . Hence this model has a non-topological degeneracy which scales as the linear system size L. Adding a small h_f obviously does not split this degeneracy, and a small h_s only contributes at order L^2 in degenerate perturbation theory, splitting the ground state degeneracy in an exponentially small fashion.

This limit of the model is therefore fine-tuned, as adding $-\gamma \sum_i Z_{ii}$ to the Hamiltonian with γ arbitrarily small splits the degeneracy associated with the site degrees of freedom. Although $\sum_i Z_{ii}$ does not obviously appear from Higgsing a gauge-invariant operator, it commutes with the residual \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge symmetry generated by the a_i . On general field-theoretic grounds, a nonzero γ should therefore be generated.

More generally, any operator involving X_{ii} splits the

non-topological degeneracy by a energy exponentially small in the system size so we can ignore all such operators. Any operator involving only the Z_{ii} that splits the non-topological degeneracy simply freezes the site spins to some particular product state configuration, although the particular configuration depends on what operators we add. As such, we are justified in calling the topological order of the resulting phase the "Higgs phase" so long as the phase associated with the plaquette sector is gapped.

If the site spins are frozen to Z_{ii} eigenstates, then it is straightforward to see that the effective model becomes that of the large- h_s limit of the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s +1) vector charge model Eq. (43). That model has \mathbb{Z}_2 topological order, so the Higgs phase of the present (4r +2, 2s + 1) model also has \mathbb{Z}_2 topological order.

Several other theories behave similarly to the (4r + 2, 2s + 1) vector charge model discussed here, except in those cases splitting the non-topological degeneracy leads to topologically trivial phases. We discuss them in Appendix B 3.



FIG. 23. Terms in the d = 3 Higgsed (4r + 2, 2s + 1) vector charge theory Hamiltonian. The a_i are associated with the center bonds and are the product of Pauli X operators on the four green spins. The diagonal (off-diagonal) b_{ij} operators are associated with the center site (face) and are products of Pauli Z operators on the four (fourteen) orange spins.

X. DISCUSSION

We have defined a large class of rank-2 U(1) gauge theories, which we refer to as the (m, n) scalar and vector charge theories. These are invariant under the discrete rotational symmetries of the square (cubic) lattices in d = 2 (d = 3). The previously studied rank-2 theories whose continuum limit possesses continuous rotational symmetry correspond to the (1, 1) scalar and (2, 1) vector charge theories. Remarkably, we find most of the (m, n) scalar and vector theories correspond to stable gapless phases of matter in d = 3, and to critical or multi-critical points in d = 2, and thus form an interesting class of field theories that are worthy of further study. The matter field in these theories is constrained to move along subdimensional manifolds, in a manner dictated by (m, n) and whether it is a scalar or vector charge theory.

Breaking the U(1) gauge symmetry down to a discrete subgroup, such as \mathbb{Z}_2 , gives rise to a large class of exactly solvable models. We find that in most cases, the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phases describe either topologically trivial phases of matter, or possess conventional topological order and correspond to multiple copies of a conventional \mathbb{Z}_2 toric code phase. Nevertheless, the exactly solvable models that arise are new and reminiscent of the color code models³³; it might thus be interesting to consider these models from the perspective of quantum error correction.

Our results provide a number of general lessons regarding fractons and higher rank gauge theories:

First, we have expanded the set of gapless higher rank field theories, whose matter fields have restricted, subdimensional dynamics. In d = 2, while many or all of these theories may not correspond to stable phases of matter, it appears they can at least correspond to (multi)-critical points. However the Higgs phases of all these theories possess either trivial or conventional topological order, which confirms the expectation that gapped fracton phases cannot exist in d = 2.

Moreover, we found that the Higgs phases of models with continuous rotational symmetry, such as the (1,1)scalar and (2,1) vector charge theories do not give rise to gapped fracton phases. However the \mathbb{Z}_2 Higgs phase of the (1,1) scalar charge theory in d = 3 does admit a transition to X-cube fracton order in the limit of a strong "Zeeman" field that breaks the continuous rotational symmetry of the continuum theory down to a discrete subgroup. The existence of a possible transition between the conventional \mathbb{Z}_2^4 topological order and X-cube fracton order in d = 3 may be of a qualitatively new type of quantum phase transition that requires further study.

We also found that the X-cube fracton order can emerge as the Higgs phase of the (2r, 2s+1) scalar charge theories in d = 3. It is not clear whether the (0, 1) scalar charge theory corresponds to a stable gapless phase of matter. However, it appears that the (2r, 2s + 1) theories with r > 0 do correspond to stable gapless phases. Remarkably, this suggests the existence of stable gapless higher rank gauge theories whose Higgs phases yield fracton order.

Notably, the above results suggest that X-cube fracton order cannot arise from a theory that is invariant under continuous rotations.

Our results demonstrate that the gapped X-cube fracton order can indeed be described within the framework of quantum field theory, albeit with a novel type of gauge theory. In particular, we can consider a continuum version of the (m, n) scalar charge theories, coupled to a charge p complex scalar field, whose condensation breaks the U(1) rank-2 gauge symmetry down to \mathbb{Z}_p . It would be interesting to understand the relation between this continuum Higgs theory and an alternative continuum field theory description of the X-cube phase, presented in Ref. 32.

The considerations presented here raise the question of whether all gapped fracton phases can emerge as Higgs phases of stable gapless higher rank gauge theories. For example, there is a natural generalization of the higher rank scalar and vector charge theories presented so far, defined by the Gauss Law terms:

$$\sum_{\{i\},\{\alpha\}} M^{a;\alpha_1\cdots\alpha_k}_{i_1\cdots i_n} \partial_{i_1} \partial_{i_2} \cdots \partial_{i_n} E^a_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\cdots,\alpha_k} = \rho_a, \quad (45)$$

where a labels distinct flavors of charges and the constraint is on a rank-k electric field $E^a_{\alpha_1,\alpha_2,\cdots,\alpha_k}$. Any discrete or continuous rotational invariance imposes constraints on the types of tensors M that can appear in the above. In fact, although for brevity we do not consider them in this paper, cubic symmetry allows another term $\sum_{i\neq j} \Delta_i^2 E_{jj}$ in Gauss' Law. A natural question is whether Higgs phases of such generalized higher rank gauge theories can describe all consistent types of subdimensional dynamics for particles that arise in gapped fracton phases. In particular it would be interesting to understand whether the Chamon model¹ and Haah's code³ can possibly arise from such a construction.

Note: During the completion of this paper, we learned of closely related work by Ma *et al*³⁶.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

DB is supported by the Laboratory for Physical Sciences and Microsoft. MB is supported by NSF CAREER (DMR-1753240) and JQI-PFC-UMD.

Appendix A: Review of the Standard Higgs Mechanism

We briefly define the lattice theory of a compact (rank-1) U(1) lattice gauge field coupled to charge-p bosonic matter. We place canonically conjugate rotor variables θ and L on the sites of a cubic lattice; this will be our matter field. Define $\theta \sim \theta + 2\pi$ so that L has integer eigenvalues and $e^{i\theta}$ is a raising operator for L. Next, orient the links of the lattice and place canonically conjugate rotor variables A_i and E_i on the links, where ilabels the direction of the link. Here

$$[A_i(\mathbf{r}), E_j(\mathbf{r}')] = i\delta_{ij}\delta(\mathbf{r} - \mathbf{r}')$$
(A1)

Compactness means we identify $A_i \sim A_i + 2\pi$, which quantizes E_i to integer eigenvalues. The standard U(1)gauge transformation is $A_i \rightarrow A_i - \Delta_i \alpha$, leading to the Gauss' Law operator

$$G(E) = \sum_{i} \Delta_{i} E_{i} \tag{A2}$$

The gauge transformation leads to a Hamiltonian of the usual form given by Eq. (5). The only difference is that $\tilde{h}_s E_{ii}^2$ and $\tilde{h}_p E_{ij}^2$ are replaced by a single term $\tilde{h} E_i^2$ on the links of the lattice. Note that we are enforcing Gauss' Law energetically on a local rotor model rather than as a strict constraint on the Hilbert space. The magnetic field takes its usual form

$$B_i = \sum_{j,k} \epsilon_{ijk} \Delta_j A_k \tag{A3}$$

for i = z in d = 2 and i = x, y, z in d = 3. The Higgs coupling is

$$H_{Higgs} = \sum_{\mathbf{r}} \frac{L(\mathbf{r})^2}{2M} - V \sum_{i,\text{sites}} \cos(\Delta_i \theta + pA_i) \quad (A4)$$

We take $V \to \infty$ and restrict our attention to the lowenergy subspace from now on.

In said subspace, we require

$$\Delta_i \theta + pA_i = 2\pi n \tag{A5}$$

for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. We may choose a gauge where $\theta = 0 \pmod{2\pi}$ at every point; in this gauge,

$$A_i = \frac{2\pi}{p}n\tag{A6}$$

for $n \in \mathbb{Z}$. For simplicity, we specialize to p = 2; the larger p case is a straightforward generalization. Then $e^{iA_i} = \pm 1$ on each link. Furthermore, since e^{iA_i} is a raising operator for E_i , its action flips the eigenvalue of $(-1)^{E_i}$. Therefore, the spectrum and the commutation relations of e^{iA_i} and $(-1)^{E_i}$ in the low-energy subspace are reproduced by the identification $e^{iA_i} = Z$ and $(-1)^{E_i} = X$ where X, Z are the usual Pauli matrices.

In this language, $\cos(B_i)$ is exactly the operator $\prod_{\square} Z$, where the product is around a plaquette perpendicular to the *i* direction. The E_i^2 term of $H_{Maxwell}$ penalizes fluctuations in A_i ; after Higgsing, this means we should be penalizing fluctuations in Z. Hence the Hamiltonian should have a term -hX, where $h \propto \tilde{h}$.

Finally, because charge is condensed, Gauss' Law only a well-defined constraint modulo 2. In the constraint language (i.e. in the $\tilde{U} \to \infty$ limit) there is a strict constraint

$$1 = (-1)^{\Delta_i E_i - 2L} = (-1)^{\Delta_i E_i} = \prod_{\text{star}} X \qquad (A7)$$

where the product is around the usual star operator. This is the \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge constraint. Taking \tilde{U} finite gives an energetic penalty to states violating this condition. The Hamiltonian is therefore

$$H = -U \sum_{\text{sites star}} \prod X - \frac{1}{g^2} \sum_{\text{plaquettes}} \prod Z - h \sum_{\text{links}} X \quad (A8)$$

where $U \propto U$.

We have thus produced \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge theory by Higgsing the U(1) lattice gauge theory. The generalization to p > 2 is straightfoward and produces \mathbb{Z}_p lattice gauge theory. The model with finite charge gap and h = 0 is also known as the *d*-dimensional \mathbb{Z}_p toric code, and has topological order; its ground state degeneracy is p^d on the *d*-torus.



FIG. 24. *a* operator for the Higgsed (0, 1) scalar charge model in d = 2.

Appendix B: Theories With Trivial Higgs Phases

Several of the theories produce topologically trivial Higgs phases, which we study in this appendix. We use the word "trivial" to describe three different physical cases. First, the model can have a unique classical ground state (i.e. the Hamiltonian is a sum of trivial, commuting terms such that the exact ground state is a product state). Second, it can be mapped a transverse field quantum Ising model, such that the ground state spontaneously breaks a global symmetry. Third, the precise model for the Higgs phase that we study can have a subextensive ground state degeneracy, which must be split by additional perturbations; in these cases the perturbations drive the system to a topologically trivial phase, while the patterns of any possible global symmetry breaking will depend on the type of perturbations added.

We will examine each of these cases in turn.

1. Classical Ground States

Whenever the parent U(1) theory does not admit a magnetic field, its Higgs phase has a classical ground state. To see how this occurs, consider (for example) the (0,1) scalar charge theory in d = 2. Its Higgsed Hamiltonian is

$$H = -U\sum_{\text{sites}} a - h_p \sum_{\text{plaquettes}} X_{xy}$$
(B1)

where a is a four-spin product of X_{xy} operators shown in Fig. 24. Since only X operators appear in this theory, at all $h_s \neq 0$ the model has a unique, classical ground state consisting of all spins in the X = +1 eigenstate (assuming $U, h_p > 0$).

Clearly whenever a theory fails to admit a magnetic field, the Hamiltonian will only involve X operators and will be a sum of Gauss' Law operators and onsite X_{ij} terms. In all such cases, the model is trivial in the sense that it is fully classical and has a unique ground state.

The other theories in which this occurs are the (1,0)and (0,1) vector charge theories in both d = 2 and d = 3.



FIG. 25. (a) Terms in the Hamiltonian and (b) phase diagram for the d = 2 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s) scalar charge theory. The electric term a is a four-spin interaction on the sites and the magnetic terms b_{zi} are Ising interactions on the *i*-directed bonds.

2. Mappings to Ising Models

Several Higgsed theories map onto standard models of spontaneous symmetry breaking. We now list each such theory.

a.
$$d = 2 (2r+1, 2s)$$
 Scalar Charge

The Higgsed (2r+1, 2s) scalar charge Hamiltonian has the same form Eq. (34) as the Higgsed (2r+1, 2s+1)scalar theory in d = 2, but a and b_{zi} take new forms, shown in Fig. 25(a).

We see that the site and plaquette spins have decoupled. Both sectors are topologically trivial. The plaquette spin Hamiltonian is, by inspection, the transverse field Ising model on the dual lattice. The site spins are trivial; they are classical and have a unique ground state at all $h_s \neq 0$.

b. d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) Scalar Charge

The Hamiltonian of the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) scalar charge theory takes the same schematic form as the d = 3(2r + 1, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory Eq. (39) but with different operators, shown in Fig. 26.

The site and face spins decouple and the site spins form a classical model with a unique ground state at $h_s \neq 0$.



FIG. 26. Terms in the Hamiltonian of the Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 2) scalar charge theory. The *a* operators are associated with the sites and are products of six X_{ii} operators acting on the green spins. The b_{ij} operators are products of two (off-diagonal terms, associated with links) or four (diagonal terms, associated with cubes) Pauli Z_{ij} operators acting on the orange spins.

The face spins have a 3D transverse field Ising model Hamiltonian with additional four-body terms (the b_{ii}) which maintain the Ising symmetry. At $h_p = 0$, Ising ferromagnetic states are favored by all the b_{ij} ; the four-body terms simply modify details of the excitations. This Higgs phase is therefore stable to small h_p .

Although the Higgs phase is topologically trivial, this model does have a topologically nontrivial phase in its phase diagram, in the regime $1/g_{ij}^2 \ll h_S \ll g_{ii}^2$, for $i \neq j$. To see this, we set $1/g_{ij}^2 = 0$ for $i \neq j$ and take $h_s \ll 1/g_{ii}^2$. The effect of h_s is incorporated by degenerate perturbation theory; the resulting model is precisely the $d = 3 \mathbb{Z}_2$ toric code Hamiltonian, which is stable to weak $1/g_{ij}^2 > 0$.



FIG. 27. Terms in the Hamiltonian and for the d = 2 Higgsed (2r + 2, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory. The electric term a is a four-spin interaction on the sites and the magnetic terms b_{zi} are Ising interactions on the *i*-directed bonds.

3. Theories With Non-Universal Trivial Higgs Phases

As discussed in Sec. III, our operational definition of "Higgs phase" is the regime $h_s, h_f \ll 1/g_{ij}^2$ for all i, j. As we saw in the (4r+2, 2s+1) vector charge model in d = 3, examined in Sec. IX, in this regime our treatment of the Higgs mechanism can produce a fine-tuned Hamiltonian. That is, there is non-topological degeneracy which is split by local operators which are not present in the Hamiltonian we derive but which are allowed by the residual \mathbb{Z}_2 gauge invariance. The precise ground state, including any possible patterns of global symmetry breaking, depends on what operators are added, but the topological order of any such ground state can still be determined.

In this appendix, we list the theories which have this fine-tuned property but which have trivial topological order. Many of our arguments from Sec. IX carry over to these theories.

a. d = 2 (2r + 2, 2s + 1) Scalar Charge

The Hamiltonian has the same structure Eq. (34) as the other scalar charge models, but with a and b_{zi} as shown in Fig. 27. The site and plaquette spins decouple. The plaquette spins are classical and have a unique ground state at all $h_p \neq 0$. The site spin sector consists of decoupled transverse field Ising chains, one for each row (involving only the yy spins) and each column (involving only the xx spins) of the lattice.

At $h_s = 0$, every Z_{ii} commutes with the Hamiltonian, as do the strings $\prod_x X_{yy}(x, y_0)$ and $\prod_y X_{xx}(x_0, y)$ for each x_0, y_0 . At $h_s \neq 0$, the strings still commute with the Hamiltonian, and h_s only contributes at *L*th order in perturbation theory. Therefore, h_s only splits the degeneracy by an amount exponentially small in the system size; the same argument holds for any local operator involving X_{ii} operators. Hence only products of Z_{ii} operators can split the degeneracy in the thermodynamic limit, but adding any such term to the $h_s = 0$ model simply chooses some particular ground state for each Ising chain. Different operators can lead to different ground states. If



FIG. 28. Terms in the Hamiltonian of the d = 2 Higgsed (2r + 1, 2s + 2) vector charge theory Hamiltonian. a_i are associated with the bonds and form Ising interactions acting on the green spins. The *b* operator is associated with the center site and is a product of the indicated Pauli *Z* operators on the four orange plaquette spins.

any degeneracy remains, it still can be split completely by adding $\sum_i Z_{ii}$ to the Hamiltonian, so no topological order can be present; therefore, any possible ground state is topologically trivial.

b. d = 2 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) Vector Charge

The Hamiltonian has the usual form Eq. (37) for vector charge models, but with the forms of a_i and b are given in Fig. 28.

Again the site and plaquette spins decouple. The site spins form decoupled classical Ising chains. At $h_p = 0$, all the Z_{xy} commute with the Hamiltonian, as do the string operators $\prod_x Z_{xy}(x, y_0)$ and $\prod_y Z_{xy}(x_0, y)$ for fixed positions x_0 and y_0 . The Z_{xy} and the string operators anticommute, so there is non-topological ground state degeneracy. Making h_p nonzero but weak will only contribute at *L*th order in degenerate perturbation theory, so h_p only splits the degeneracy by an exponentially small amount. Similarly to the d = 2 (2r + 2, 2s + 1) scalar charge theory discussed above, the degeneracy is finetuned, as local operators can split it. For the same reasons as in the d = 2 (2r + 2, 2s + 1) scalar charge model discussed above, the resulting ground state depends on what operators are chosen, but said state will always be topologically trivial.

c. d = 3 (4r + 4, 2s + 1) Vector Charge

The Hamiltonian of the d = 3 (4r + 4, 2s + 1) vector charge theory takes the same schematic form as the d = 3(2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory Eq. (42) but with different operators, shown in Fig. 29.

The sites and faces decouple. The face sector is a classical model with a unique ground state.

In the site sector at $h_s = 0$, obviously every Z_{ii} commutes with the Hamiltonian. There are also $\mathcal{O}(L^2)$ independent string operators which commute with the Hamiltonian and anticommute with the Z_{ii} ; an example is $\prod_y X_{xx}(x_0+1, y, z_0) X_{xx}(x_0+1, y, z_0+2) X_{zz}(x_0, y, z_0+1)$



FIG. 29. Terms in the Hamiltonian of the Higgsed (4r+4, 2s+1) vector charge theory. The *a* operators are associated with the links and are products of four X_{ij} operators acting on the green spins. The b_{ij} operators are products of four Pauli Z_{ij} operators acting on the orange spins.

1) $X_{zz}(x_0+2, y, z_0+1)$ where x_0 and z_0 are fixed positions. Rotations of this operator are also valid. These string operators are the lowest-order operators that enter in the effective Hamiltonian when h_s is taken weak but nonzero; they appear at order 4L in degenerate perturbation theory. Therefore, h_s nonzero only splits the ground state degeneracy by an exponentially small amount, but there are local operators (e.g. Z_{ii}) which commute with the a_i and split the degeneracy at first order in perturbation theory. For the same reasons as in the other models in this section, the resulting ground state depends on what local operators are chosen, but said state will always be topologically trivial.

Much like the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) scalar charge model, there is also nontrivial topological order in the phase diagram when $1/g_{ij}^2 \ll h_s \ll 1/g_{ii}^2$. Using similar arguments, the effective model at $1/g_{ij}^2 = 0$ obtained from degenerate perturbation theory is the Hamiltonian Eq. (40), which is eight decoupled copies of the toric code.

d. d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) Vector Charge

The Hamiltonian of the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 2) vector charge theory also takes the same schematic form as the d = 3 (2r + 1, 2s + 1) vector charge theory Eq. (42) but



FIG. 30. Terms in the Hamiltonian of the Higgsed (2r+1, 2s+2) vector charge theory. The *a* operators are associated with the links and are Ising-like products of X_{ii} operators acting on the green spins. The b_{ij} operators are products of ten (off-diagonal terms, associated with faces) or four (diagonal terms, associated with sites) Pauli Z_{ij} operators acting on the orange spins.

- ¹ Claudio Chamon, "Quantum Glassiness in Strongly Correlated Clean Systems: An Example of Topological Overprotection," Phys. Rev. Lett. **94**, 040402 (2005).
- ² Sergey Bravyi, Bernhard Leemhuis, and Barbara M. Terhal, "Topological order in an exactly solvable 3D spin model," Ann. Phys. **326**, 839–866 (2011).
- ³ Jeongwan Haah, "Local stabilizer codes in three dimensions without string logical operators," Phys. Rev. A 83, 042330 (2011).
- ⁴ Beni Yoshida, "Exotic topological order in fractal spin liquids," Phys. Rev. B 88, 125122 (2013).
- ⁵ Sagar Vijay, Jeongwan Haah, and Liang Fu, "A new kind of topological quantum order: A dimensional hierarchy of quasiparticles built from stationary excitations," Phys. Rev. B **92**, 235136 (2015).
- ⁶ Sagar Vijay and Liang Fu, "A Generaliation of Non-Abelian Anyons in Three Dimensions," ArXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1706.07070.
- ⁷ Sergey Bravyi and Jeongwan Haah, "Quantum Self-Correction in the 3D Cubic Code Model," Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 200501 (2013).
- ⁸ Karthik Siva and Beni Yoshida, "Topological order and memory time in marginally-self-correcting quantum memory," Phys. Rev. A **95**, 032324 (2017).
- ⁹ Abhinav Prem, Michael Pretko, and Rahul M. Nandk-

Again, the sites and faces decouple. The site sector has a unique classical ground state. The face sector is fine-tuned in a similar fashion to the Higgsed d = 3(4r+4, 2s+1) vector charge theory. This can be seen by examining the face sector at $h_f = 0$. In this limit, every Z_{ij} commutes with the Hamiltonian, but there are also $\mathcal{O}(L^2)$ independent string operators which commute with the Hamiltonian but anticommute with various Z_{ij} . An example is the operator $\prod_{x} X_{xy}(x, y_0, z_0) X_{xz}(x, y_0, z_0)$, where y_0 and z_0 are fixed spatial positions. By standard degenerate perturbation theory arguments, setting h_f small but nonzero only contributes at 2Lth order in perturbation theory, which leads to an exponentially small splitting of the degeneracy. As in the rest of this section. the resulting ground state depends on what local operators are chosen, but said state will always be topologically trivial.

ishore, "Emergent phases of fractonic matter," Phys. Rev. B **97**, 085116 (2018).

- ¹⁰ Bowen Shi and Yuan-Ming Lu, "Deciphering the nonlocal entanglement entropy of fracton topological orders," Phys. Rev. B **97**, 144106 (2018).
- ¹¹ Han Ma, A. T. Schmitz, S. A. Parameswaran, Michael Hermele, and Rahul M. Nandkishore, "Topological entanglement entropy of fracton stabilizer codes," Physical Review B 97, 125101 (2018).
- ¹² A. T. Schmitz, Han Ma, Rahul M. Nandkishore, and S. A. Parameswaran, "Recoverable information and emergent conservation laws in fracton stabilizer codes," Phys. Rev. B **97**, 134426 (2018).
- ¹³ Trithep Devakul, S. A. Parameswaran, and S. L. Sondhi, "Correlation function diagnostics for type-I fracton phases," Phys. Rev. B 97, 041110 (2018).
- ¹⁴ Cenke Xu, "Novel Algebraic Boson Liquid phase with soft Graviton excitations," ArXiv e-prints (2013), arXiv:condmat/0602443.
- ¹⁵ Cenke Xu, "Gapless bosonic excitation without symmetry breaking: An algebraic spin liquid with soft gravitons," Phys. Rev. B 74, 224433 (2006).
- ¹⁶ Alex Rasmussen, Yi-Zhuang You, and Cenke Xu, "Stable Gapless Bose Liquid Phases without any Symmetry," ArXiv e-prints (2016), arXiv:1601.08235.

- ¹⁷ Michael Pretko, "Subdimensional particle structure of higher rank U(1) spin liquids," Phys. Rev. B **95**, 115139 (2017).
- ¹⁸ Michael Pretko, "Generalized electromagnetism of subdimensional particles: A spin liquid story," Phys. Rev. B 96, 035119 (2017).
- ¹⁹ Michael Pretko, "Higher-spin Witten effect and twodimensional fracton phases," Physical Review B 96, 125151 (2017).
- ²⁰ Cenke Xu and Petr Hořava, "Emergent gravity at a Lifshitz point from a Bose liquid on the lattice," Phys. Rev. D 81, 104033 (2010).
- ²¹ Michael Pretko and Leo Radzihovsky, "Fracton-Elasticity Duality," Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**, 195301 (2018).
- ²² Andrey Gromov, "Fractional Topological Elasticity and Fracton Order," ArXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1712.06600.
- ²³ Kevin Slagle and Yong Baek Kim, "X-cube model on generic lattices: Fracton phases and geometric order," Physical Review B 97, 165106 (2018).
- ²⁴ Wilbur Shirley, Kevin Slagle, Zhenghan Wang, and Xie Chen, "Fracton Models on General Three-Dimensional Manifolds," ArXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1712.05892.
- ²⁵ Sagar Vijay, Jeongwan Haah, and Liang Fu, "Fracton topological order, generalized lattice gauge theory, and duality," Phys. Rev. B **94**, 235157 (2016).
- ²⁶ Dominic J. Williamson, "Fractal symmetries: Ungauging the cubic code," Phys. Rev. B **94**, 155128 (2016).
- ²⁷ Sagar Vijay, "Isotropic Layer Construction and Phase Diagram for Fracton Topological Phases," ArXiv e-prints (2017), arXiv:1701.00762.

- ²⁸ Han Ma, Ethan Lake, Xie Chen, and Michael Hermele, "Fracton topological order via coupled layers," Phys. Rev. B **95**, 245126 (2017).
- ²⁹ O. Petrova and N. Regnault, "Simple anisotropic threedimensional quantum spin liquid with fractonlike topological order," Physical Review B 96, 224429 (2017).
- ³⁰ Gábor B. Halász, Timothy H. Hsieh, and Leon Balents, "Fracton topological phases from strongly coupled spin chains," Phys. Rev. Lett. **119**, 257202 (2017).
- ³¹ Timothy H. Hsieh and Gábor B. Halász, "Fractons from partons," Phys. Rev. B 96, 165105 (2017).
- ³² Kevin Slagle and Yong Baek Kim, "Quantum field theory of X-cube fracton topological order and robust degeneracy from geometry," Phys. Rev. B **96**, 195139 (2017).
- ³³ H. Bombin and M. A. Martin-Delgado, "Topological Quantum Distillation," Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 180501 (2006).
- ³⁴ In fact, exactly one (up to rescalings of the matter field) of m or n could in principle be irrational. However, the compactness conditions of the A_{ij} lead to the magnetic field obeying $B_{ij} \sim B_{ij} + 2\pi m$, $B_{ij} + 2\pi n$ for $i \neq j$. If one of mor n is irrational, the resulting magnetic field cannot be incorporated into the Hamiltonian in a straightforward way while respecting the compactness condition. We generally expect such theories to be at best highly unstable.
- ³⁵ Cenke Xu and Congjun Wu, "Resonating plaquette phases in SU(4) Heisenberg antiferromagnet," Phys. Rev. B 77, 134449 (2008).
- ³⁶ Han Ma, Michael Hermele, and Xie Chen, "Fracton topological order from Higgs and partial confinement mechanisms of rank-two gauge theory," ArXiv e-prints (2018), arXiv:1802.10108.